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Pure Copper
Based on a proven track record of building and
operating low cost mining, mineral processing and
metal refining operations in Africa, First Quantum 
is committed to achieving positive returns for its
shareholders while promoting the health, safety 
and development of its employees and enriching the
environment and communities in which it operates.
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Earnings 
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First Quantum Minerals Ltd. (“First Quantum” or “the Company) is focused on its

core expertise of discovering, developing and operating copper mines throughout

the world. The Company has operations in the Central African Copperbelt region

of Zambia and the Democratic Republic of Congo (“DRC”), and in Mauritania.

Cautionary Statement

Certain information contained in this annual report constitutes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and forward-looking information under applicable Canadian securities legislation. Such
forward-looking statements or information, including but not limited to those with respect to the prices of gold, copper, cobalt
and sulphuric acid, estimated future production, estimated costs of future production, the Company’s hedging policy and
permitting time lines, involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors which may cause the actual results,
performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements or information. Such factors include, among others, the actual prices
of copper, gold, cobalt and sulphuric acid, the factual results of current exploration, development and mining activities, changes
in project parameters as plans continue to be evaluated, as well as those factors disclosed in the Company’s documents filed
from time to time with the Alberta, British Columbia, and Ontario Securities Commissions, the Autorité des marchés financiers in
Quebec, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and the Alternative Investment Market operated by the London
Stock Exchange.

As of the date of this annual report, the Company has not yet completed the work necessary to verify the classification of the
mineral resource estimates at Guelb Moghrein. The Company is not therefore treating the resource as a National Instrument 43-
101 defined current mineral resource estimate verified by a qualified person under National Instrument 43-101. Consequently, at
present, information based on any existing historical resource estimate should not and cannot be relied upon.

Unless otherwise noted, all amounts in this annual report are expressed in United States dollars.
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2006 Highlights
• Net earnings of $414.4 million ($6.37 per share)

• Operating cash flow of $588.2 million ($9.04 per share) 

• Copper production for the year of 183,277 tonnes (403.9 million pounds)

• Realized copper price of $2.82 per pound

• Group cash costs of $0.87/lb and total costs of $1.09/lb

• Commercial production began at Guelb Moghrein in Mauritania

• Acquired Adastra Minerals Inc. and its Kolwezi copper-cobalt tailings project

• Frontier project on track for commercial start up in third quarter of 2007

• High pressure leach project at Kansanshi commenced commissioning

• Established new $400 million corporate credit facility

• Dividends of $20.1 million paid to Company shareholders
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Corporate Profile
First Quantum is a growing mining and metals company whose principle activities include mineral
exploration, development and mining. The Company produces LME grade “A” copper cathode, copper
in concentrate, gold and sulphuric acid.

The Company’s operations in Zambia include the 100% owned Bwana Mkubwa SX/EW facility and
sulphuric acid plants and the 80% owned Kansanshi open pit copper-gold mine. First Quantum also
holds strategic investments in the Nkana underground copper mine and cobalt refinery (16.9%); and
the Mufulira underground copper mine, smelter and copper refinery (16.9%) in Zambia. 

In the Democratic Republic of Congo, First Quantum operates the 100% owned Lonshi open pit copper
mine which provides oxide copper ore for processing at Bwana Mkubwa, a 95% interest in the Frontier
copper deposit, and a 65% interest in the Kolwezi copper-cobalt tailings project.

In Mauritania, First Quantum operates the 80% owned Guelb Moghrein copper gold mine.

80% 100% 80% 95% 16.9% 65%

Kansanshi Bwana/Lonshi Guelb Frontier Mopani Kolwezi
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
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Shareholder Information
First Quantum common shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “FM” and
also trade on the London Stock Exchange under the symbol “FQM”. Equity options of the Company are
listed on the Montreal Exchange under the root symbol “FM”. First Quantum is a member of the
Standard & Poor’s/Toronto Stock Exchange Composite Index.

First Quantum Share Price
Toronto Stock Exchange

$Cdn
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Copper has been used for over 7,000

years. Worldwide copper consumption

continues to increase every year.

Copper is traded around the world with

the principal trading occurring on the

London Metal Exchange.
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COPPER – THE RED METAL

Commercial sources of copper are found in
deposits formed under the earth’s surface as the
result of early volcanic disturbances. Primary
ores, called sulphide ores, formed when molten
solutions flowed into the earth’s crust.
Secondary ores, called oxide ores, were formed
as weather and other natural forces altered
ancient rocks. Both sulphide and oxide ores are
mined and processed to extract copper metal.
After hundreds of years of exploration and
mining, new copper deposits are becoming much
more difficult to find.

Wiring – Connecting the World

Copper has several important properties: high
ductility, malleability and electrical conductivity,
each of which make it a “natural” for electrical
wiring. More than any other non-precious metal,
it is the best conductor of electricity, packing
more power into a given diameter of wire than
any substitute material. Electrical uses include
power transmission and generation, wires for
residential and commercial buildings,
telecommunications and electrical products.

Plumbing, Heating and Cooling

For the last 100 years, copper tubing has been
the most reliable and cost effective option for
distributing water to and throughout residential
and commercial buildings. Copper tubing is also
widely used in air conditioning and refrigeration
systems due to its high thermal conductivity
which is about eight times more efficient than
that of aluminum tubing.

Technology – Computer Chips

Manufacturers of computer chips rely on copper to
link transistors. By substituting higher conductivity
copper for aluminum, chip makers can create
more efficient and faster products. In addition to
increasing a chip’s speed, use of copper helps
limit heat generation, a problem which will grow
as more circuits are packed into a single chip.

Automobiles

There are more than 55 pounds of copper in a
typical U.S.-built automobile: about 45 pounds
for electrical and about 10 pounds for non-
electrical components. Thanks to continuing
improvements in electronics and the addition of
power accessories, today's luxury autos, on
average, contain some 1,500 copper wires
totalling about one mile in length. New hybrid
cars contain approximately 100 pounds of
copper. In 1948, the average family car
contained only about 55 wires with an average
total length of 150 feet. 

Copper – the Red Metal
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Copper Price (US$/pound)
London Metal Exchange
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Letter to Shareholders
2006 was an exceptional year for First Quantum. With the Kansanshi mine operating for its first full
year, copper production increased to 183,277 tonnes, a 54% increase over 2005.  Record copper
production, when matched with an average realized copper price of $2.82 per pound resulted in
revenues of $1.1 billion, operating cash flow of $588 million and earnings of $414 million.

Commensurate with our goal of returning a minimum of 10% of net profits to shareholders, the
Company paid Cdn $0.36 per share in dividends in 2006. In May 2007, a further dividend of Cdn $0.625
per share was paid in respect to the Company’s financial performance in 2006. In addition to the
dividend, our shareholders were rewarded with a 68% increase in First Quantum’s share price during
the year.

In 2007, copper production is expected to grow to approximately 240,000 – 250,000 tonnes, a 31% to
36% increase over 2006. While copper prices are now lower than the spectacular highs reached in
2006, we believe that the price of copper will remain strong by historical measures as the industry
struggles to meet new copper demand.

State of the Industry
Each year in my letter to shareholders, I try to provide some insight into the challenges faced by the
mining industry.

Demand for commodities remains strong. The mining industry continues to suffer from an acute
shortage of qualified people at all levels. The competition for human resources between mining
companies is fierce and unremitting. This is symptomatic of an industry that is stretched to its limits.
The mining industry is supported by an aging workforce of geologists and engineers and it will require
a generation to reinvigorate itself. Suppliers of equipment to the industry face the same constraints.
There is no simple solution to fix this “human capital” problem.  It will continue to be the major
constraint faced by the mining industry in the discovery, development and construction of new projects
to meet demand for the commodities produced.
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The procurement of mining and processing equipment continues to be difficult with large capital items
requiring order lead times in some cases of more than two years. This makes mine development
decisions far more complex because of the increased exposure to commodity price fluctuations before
commercial production begins. Inflation continues to have an impact, with the price of consumables
and services, currently rising at a rate of approximately 10% per annum.

The political environments in the countries in which we operate are also changing. With the
improvement in commodity prices, the aspirations of people change. Political pressure is brought to
bear on the government to seek more from the companies operating in their country. This pressure can
be difficult to resist and we have already begun to see proposals to increase royalties and tax rates in
Zambia. At each of our operations we have signed development agreements providing stability on long
term parameters such as royalty and tax rates. These were established as an incentive to invest at a
time of much lower commodity prices resulting in a reluctance by mining companies to invest. We
however remain confident in and supportive of the respective governments in the countries in which
we operate.

As I point out every year, our achievements over the last several years are a credit to the qualities of
our excellent team of technical professionals and management. Without high quality people the
richest deposit cannot be developed successfully. Therefore we will continue with our long term policy
of seeking out, recruiting, developing and motivating the best people in the industry. Our performance
is a testament to the value of this policy and our success in achieving it.

Kansanshi Copper-Gold Mine
During the year, orders were placed for more mining equipment. It was discovered that more ore
blending for both the oxide and sulphide ores was needed to accommodate variations in grade,
hardness and acid consumption. The purpose of the additional mining equipment is to improve the
flexibility in the pit by providing additional ore exposure. Some of this equipment arrived in mid 2006
and has already increased the exposure of additional high grade oxide ore and has offset the
continuing impact of lower grade sulphide ore on copper production.

Construction of a second sulphide crushing and milling circuit expansion is currently underway. This
will increase sulphide throughput to 12 million tonnes per year beginning in 2008 and assist in treating
the harder ore encountered in areas of the pit resulting in increases in copper production from 2008
onwards.

The Company is also investing in a high pressure leach (“HPL”) facility to treat a portion of the increased
copper concentrate production. The main components of the HPL facility are two autoclaves, an oxygen
plant and an additional 35,000 tonne per annum solvent extraction and electrowinning (“SX/EW”)
facility. The HPL facility is expected to begin commercial operation during the first half of 2007.
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Guelb Moghrein Copper-Gold Mine
At Guelb Moghrein, the first copper in concentrate was produced in July 2006. Commercial production
was achieved on October 5, 2006. The mine is expected to reach its design capacity of 30,000 tonnes
of copper and 70,000 ounces of gold per year during the first half of 2007.

Bringing the Guelb Moghrein mine into production could not have been achieved without the
Government of the Islamic Republic of Mauritania's initiative of supporting new investment in the
mining industry. The successful development of Guelb Moghrein is a credit to our project team and
mine management team. Furthermore, this project establishes the Company’s capability to develop
mineral deposits outside of the Copperbelt region.

Bwana Processing Centre/Lonshi Copper Mine
Bwana/Lonshi had a record year producing 51,068 tonnes of copper cathode. The remaining mine life
of Lonshi is approximately 1 1/2 years. The challenge in 2007 will be to determine the best use of the
Bwana process plant upon depletion of the Lonshi reserve.

Frontier Copper Deposit
Construction began at Frontier in April 2006. In November, the Company announced the details of the
construction of a $226 million facility producing an average of 73,000 tonnes of copper in concentrate
per year over a mine life of 19 years. Commissioning is expected to begin in the third quarter of 2007.

Kolwezi Copper-Cobalt Deposit
In 2006, the Company acquired 100% of Adastra Minerals Inc. (“Adastra”) for $273 million. Adastra
was a public international mining company with its principal asset being 65% of the Kolwezi copper-
cobalt tailings project located in the DRC.

The Company has conducted metallurgical test work and a piloting program for revised process
engineering. The Company is considering the construction of an initial 35,000 tonne per year copper
facility and 5,800 tonne per year cobalt facility which would be designed to be expanded to 105,000
tonnes of copper per year and 17,400 tonnes of cobalt per year. Initial road and earth works
construction are expected to begin in 2007.

Outlook
The Company expects to produce approximately 240,000 – 250,000 tonnes of copper in 2007, which is
an increase of 31% to 36% over 2006 copper production. This expected production includes
approximately 145,000 tonnes from Kansanshi, approximately 45,000 tonnes from Bwana/Lonshi,
approximately 30,000 tonnes from Guelb Moghrein, and approximately 30,000 tonnes from Frontier.
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Group cash costs are expected to be in the range of $0.90 to $0.95 per pound of copper for 2007
before considering the impact of the accounting change for the removal of deferred stripping. The
Frontier project will begin production in 2007 and construction will also begin at the Kolwezi project.
We continue to develop a pipeline of development projects which will ensure the Company continues
to grow as it has in the past.

Our exploration efforts will continue in the Copperbelt and we are confident that we can expect further
success in the future. Finally, we will maintain our strategy of seeking acquisition opportunities to
which we believe First Quantum can add value both through our strong financial position and technical
expertise.

Objectives For 2007
The principal objectives for 2007 are:

• Health, Safety and the Environment – continue to promote the health, safety and development 
of our employees and to enrich the environment and communities in which we operate

• Bwana/Lonshi – secure future ore feed to extend the use of this excellent facility after Lonshi’s
depletion

• Kansanshi – bring HPL to commercial production; construct and commission the sulphide circuit
expansion

• Guelb Moghrein – de-bottleneck and fine tune production
• Frontier – complete construction, commission and begin commercial production
• Kolwezi – finalize engineering design and begin construction
• Kashime – complete oxide resource estimate
• Exploration – continue to evaluate prospects in Zambia, the DRC and Mauritania

A Message of Thanks
I would like to thank all of those who have contributed to the success of First Quantum during 2006.
While our employees, with their management and technical expertise, have been the main engine for
our growth, we also acknowledge the important role played by the governments of Zambia, the DRC
and Mauritania.

Finally, I would like to thank the members of the Board for their diligence, support and enthusiasm.

Philip K. R. Pascall
Chairman & CEO
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Financial Highlights
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 (1)

Financial Results ($000’s)

Revenue $1,094,483 $444,614 $113,523 $60,454 $51,095
Operating profit $773,816 $256,165 $48,880 $11,394 ($839)
Net earnings (loss) $414,386 $152,818 $28,010 $4,582 ($3,791)

Cash Flow ($000’s)

Operating cash flow
(before changes in non-cash working capital) $588,185 $236,127 $46,263 $18,052 ($624)

Net capital expenditures and investments $363,734 $164,796 $206,105 $40,254 $28,221
Repayment of principal on long term debt $251,507 $39,819 $17,401 $29,490 $14,721
Dividends paid $20,151 – – – –

Financial Position ($000’s)

Total assets 1,744,423 $746,511 $473,061 $162,135 $97,824
Total liabilities (incl. minority interest) $809,322 $435,070 $315,221 $80,512 $44,297
Shareholders’ equity $935,101 $311,441 $157,840 $81,623 $53,527
Weighted average shares outstanding 65,088 61,498 60,123 50,668 43,363

Per Share

Cash flow from operations
(before changes in non-cash working capital) $9.04 $3.84 $0.77 $0.36 ($0.01)

Earnings (loss) $6.37 $2.48 $0.47 $0.09 ($0.09)
Dividend (Cdn$) $0.36 – – – –

1. In 2002, the Company changed its year end to Dec. 31, 2002, therefore, the figures presented in 2002 represent 13 months.
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Production Highlights
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 (1)

Summary

Attributable copper production (tonnes) (2) 183,277 119,117 41,546 29,513 11,878
Realized copper price (US$/lb) (3) 2.82 1.66 1.13 0.75 0.65
Cash cost copper (US$/lb) 0.87 0.67 0.46 0.44 0.27
Total cost copper (US$/lb) 1.09 0.86 0.62 0.62 0.52
Sulphuric acid sold (tonnes) 2,363 22,327 66,460 75,228 88,198
Gold sold (ounces) 33,497 14,266 – – –

Kansanshi Mine

Copper production (tonnes) 127,179 69,579 – – –
Cash cost copper (US$/lb) 0.91 0.63 – – –
Total cost copper (US$/lb) 1.09 0.79 – – –
Gold sold (ounces) 30,751 14,266 – – –

Bwana/Lonshi Mine

Copper production (tonnes) 51,068 49,538 41,546 29,513 11,878
Cash cost copper (US$/lb) 0.76 0.68 0.46 0.44 0.27
Total cost copper (US$/lb) 1.04 0.93 0.62 0.62 0.52
Sulphuric acid sold (tonnes) 2,363 22,327 66,460 75,228 88,198

Guelb Moghrein Mine

Copper production (tonnes) 5,031 – – – –
Cash cost copper (US$/lb) 1.69 – – – –
Total cost copper (US$/lb) 2.18 – – – –
Gold sold (ounces) 2,746 – – – –

1. In 2002, the Company changed its year end to Dec. 31, 2002; therefore, the figures presented above represent 13 months

2. During 2002, the Company elected to dilute its interest in Carlisa investments, through which the Mopani interest is held,
from 49% to 18.8%. Accordingly, the Company no longer consolidates its investment and now accounts for it on a cost
basis. As a result, the Company does not attribute any copper or cobalt production from Mopani in its production statistics
since 2001.

3. The realized copper price is calculated by deducting treatment and refining charges and freight parity charges from the
selling price achieved before realization charges.

4. First Quantum has adopted the following Brook Hunt definitions for mine cost categories:

Cash costs are operating costs, including mining, processing, realization charges, site administration; net of by product
credits.

Total costs are total production costs, including operating costs (cash costs); depreciation and amortization charges;
royalties, related head office and interest costs.
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THE COPPERBELT

The Copperbelt
The Copperbelt is an arcuate zone, 600 kilometres long by 50 kilometres wide, containing one of the
world’s greatest concentrations of copper and cobalt deposits. The arc of the deposits extends from
Ndola, Zambia in the east stretching across the border into the DRC, back into the northwest portion of
Zambia, and west into Angola.

The Copperbelt deposits are truly exceptional on a world scale with most having original resources
measuring hundreds of millions of tonnes of ore with grades greater than 2% copper. For example,
Nchanga in Zambia contained 450 million tonnes at 4% copper, while the cobalt rich Kolwezi district in
the DRC totalled over 600 million tonnes at a grade of 7% copper equivalent.

Copper and cobalt mineralization was first discovered in Zambia at the turn of the century with large
scale production commencing in the 1930s. Since then copper has played a dominant role in Zambia’s
economic history, providing at times 85% of its foreign exchange. Copper production reached a peak of
700,000 tonnes during the period 1969-1976 before beginning a progressive decline, due to a lack of
investment, to a low of 257,000 tonnes in 2000. Zambia produced approximately 500,000 tonnes of
copper in 2006, up from 465,000 tonnes in 2005.

The Copperbelt remains largely unexplored using modern exploration practices. New ore bodies similar
to the Kansanshi and Lonshi deposits await discovery, with Frontier and Kashime being prime examples.

Mauritania
Mauritania is located in North West Africa and
occupies the western part of the Sahara Desert. 
The country has limited agricultural resources but
contains extensive mineral deposits, most notably iron
ore. Its coastal waters are among the world’s richest
fishing grounds, and oil reserves were discovered offshore
in 2001 with commercial exploitation beginning in 2005. 

In ten years Mauritania has been transformed from a country
with a predominantly nomadic population (2.8 million in 2002),
limited economic base and poor social indicators to one that is
highly urbanized and market-driven.
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127,179 tonnes of copper
were produced by 

Kansanshi in 2006.
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KANSANSHI

The Kansanshi copper-gold mine is located in
the North Western Province of Zambia,
approximately ten kilometres north of Solwezi
and 180 kilometres to the northwest of the
Copperbelt town of Chingola.

Mining is carried out using conventional open
pit methods employing excavators and a fleet of
haul trucks. Ore treatment is flexible to allow for
variation in ore type. Sulphide ore is treated via
crushing, milling and flotation to produce
copper in concentrate which is either treated
onsite via HPL or shipped to Copperbelt
smelters. Oxide ore is treated via crushing,
milling, solvent extraction and electrowinning
(SX/EW) to produce cathode copper.

In 2001, the Company purchased an 80%
interest in Kansanshi from Cyprus Amax, a
subsidiary of Phelps Dodge Corporation, for
total consideration of $27.5 million.

In 2002, it was proposed that Kansanshi be
developed in two phases and a definitive
feasibility study (DFS) was completed for the
first phase of 16 years. A second phase of 14

Kansanshi Copper-Gold Mine, Zambia

years is supported by the existing resource for 
a total mine life of approximately 30 years.

Disclosure relating to Kansanshi’s resources and
reserves and the related qualified person(s) is
contained in the Company’s most recently filed
annual information form, which is available on
SEDAR and is also posted on the Company’s
website.

The original DFS envisioned the treatment of 
4 million tonnes of oxide ore and 2 million tonnes
of sulphide ore (4O+2S) to produce an average
of 85,000 tonnes of finished copper per year.

Capital additions carried out to the sulphide
milling circuit during initial construction doubled
treatment capacity of sulphide ore to 4 million
tonnes per year (4O+4S).

A second expansion program completed in early
2006 expanded the sulphide circuit to 8 million
tonnes of treatment capacity (4O+8S).

Copper production
127,179 tonnes

Cash Cost
$0.91/lb

Total Cost
$1.09/lb
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Kansanshi’s new 35,000
tonne/annum cathode tank
house was built in 2006 as

part of the HPL facility.



Construction on a third expansion to the
sulphide circuit began in late 2006 and is
expected to be completed by 2008. This will
result in a treatment capacity of 12 million
tonnes of sulphide ore (4O+12S). Finished
copper production is forecast to be 145,000
tonnes in 2007 and 165,000 tonnes per year
thereafter.

The Company has constructed a HPL facility to
treat a portion of the increased copper
concentrate production. The total capital cost
was $100 million including upgrading the Zesco
power supply and working capital requirements.
The main components of the HPL facility are two
autoclaves, an oxygen plant and an additional
35,000 tonne per annum SX/EW facility.
Construction of the HPL facility was completed
in 2006 and commercial production is expected
to begin in 2007.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had
invested approximately $411 million at
Kansanshi. The mine employs approximately
1,105 workers on a full or part time basis.

In 2006, 9.5 million tonnes of ore grading 1.4%
copper and 21.9 million tonnes of waste were
mined. Copper production was 127,179 tonnes,
73,683 tonnes as copper in cathode and 53,496
as copper in concentrates. The combined cash
costs for both cathode and concentrate for 2006
was $0.91 per pound of copper with a total cost
of $1.09 per pound of copper.

For 2007, Kansanshi is forecast to produce
145,000 tonnes of copper and 40,000 ounces of
gold. Cash costs are forecast in the range of
$0.90 to $0.95 per pound of copper before
considering the impact of the accounting
change for the removal of deferred stripping.
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51,068 tonnes of copper 
were produced by

Bwana/Lonshi in 2006.
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BWANA/LONSHI

The Bwana/Lonshi operation is unique in that it
operates in two countries, Zambia and the DRC.
The operation involves open pit mining of high
grade oxide ore at Lonshi in the DRC and
transportation of the ore into Zambia where it is
processed at the Bwana SX/EW facility. The
Company currently employs approximately
1,799 people at its Bwana/Lonshi operations.

The 100% owned Bwana SX/EW facility is
located near the regional mining centre of
Ndola. Since inception, the Bwana operation has
processed oxide copper ores to produce metal
as copper cathode. In addition, Bwana produces
sulphuric acid for consumption in First Quantum
operations.

Bwana SX/EW Facility, Zambia
Lonshi Copper Mine, DRC

Built in 1998 at a cost of $30 million and
expanded in 2002 for an additional $25 million,
Bwana is a showcase operation for First
Quantum in Zambia. Designed originally to re-
process existing tailings from historic operations,
Bwana was converted and upgraded to process
Lonshi oxide copper ore in 2002.

The Lonshi copper mine is owned and operated
by Compagnie Minière de Sakania Sprl. (Comisa),
a wholly owned Congolese subsidiary. The
deposit was first discovered by First Quantum in
late 2000 and mining operations commenced in
August 2001 after drilling campaigns had
identified a high grade copper resource.

Copper production
51,068 tonnes

Cash Cost
$0.76/lb

Total Cost
$1.04/lb



Bwana produces 
LME grade “A” 

copper cathode.
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Bwana is a showcase
operation for First Quantum 

in Zambia. 
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The oxide orebody at Lonshi will be exhausted
in 2008. Disclosure relating to Lonshi’s resources
and reserves and the related qualified person(s)
is contained in the Company’s most recently
filed annual information form, which is available
on SEDAR and is also posted on the Company’s
website.

In 2006, approximately 520,000 tonnes of ore
grading 10.3% copper and 18.8 million tonnes of
waste were mined from Lonshi. Copper cathode
production was a record 51,068 tonnes. Cash
costs for 2006 were $0.76 per pound and total
costs were $1.04.

The Bwana/Lonshi operation is forecast to
produce 45,000 tonnes of copper cathode in
2007. Cash costs are forecast in the range of
$0.75 -$0.80 per pound of copper before
considering the impact of the accounting
change for removal of deferred stripping.

The Company is currently assessing the
alternative and most beneficial uses for the
Bwana processing plant after the Lonshi ore
body has been depleted.
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Guelb Moghrein produced its
first copper in concentrate 

in July 2006. 
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Guelb Moghrein 
Copper-Gold Project, Mauritania

The Guelb Moghrein deposit is located 250
kilometres northeast of the nation’s capital,
Nouakchott, near the town of Akjoujt and is
accessible by paved highway. It consists of an
open pit mineable, copper/gold deposit. 

Disclosure relating to Guelb Moghrein resources
and reserves and the related qualified person(s)
is contained in the Company’s most recently
filed annual information form, which is available
on SEDAR and is also posted on the Company’s
website.

In January 2005, the detailed design and
engineering contract was awarded with site
establishment commencing in March 2005. 

The first copper in concentrate was produced in
July 2006 and commercial production was
achieved in October 2006. 

Ore is crushed and milled followed by flotation
to produce a copper concentrate which is
shipped to offshore smelters. Approximately
one-half of the gold recovered reports to the
concentrate and the remainder is produced from
gravity concentrate and the flotation tails which
are fed to a carbon in leach circuit for recovery
using standard cyanide techniques. Gold doré is
produced on site. Production is estimated to be
approximately 30,000 tonnes of copper in
concentrate and 70,000 ounces of gold in 2007.

Copper production
5,031 tonnes

Cash Cost
$1.69/lb

Total Cost
$2.18/lb
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Construction is well
advanced at Frontier and

commercial production is
expected to begin in the

third quarter of 2007.
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Frontier is located near the town of Sakania in
the DRC, within two kilometres of the Zambian
border, and the paved highway that parallels it,
roughly equidistant between the city of Ndola
(35 kilometres) to the southeast and the Mopani
Copper Mines smelter at Mufulira (30 kilometres)
to the northwest. It is also approximately 45
kilometres from First Quantum’s Bwana Mkubwa
SX/EW facility. The main railway from the
Copperbelt in Zambia to Lubumbashi in the DRC
passes within five kilometres of the property.

The Frontier site is a greenfield development,
with the advantage of being relatively close to
significant existing mine developments in the
Zambian Copperbelt. As a result, issues of
access and housing are relatively straight
forward. All other mine site infrastructure will
need to be developed, including power supply,
water supply, offices, workshops and other
buildings and fuel storage. Power will be
supplied from an existing substation
approximately 28 kilometres to the west in
Zambia. Water will be supplied from mine
dewatering. 

A scoping study (“Study”) was published in
November 2006. The Study detailed an
operation consisting of open pit mining and 
the processing of primary sulphide ore. 

Frontier Copper Project, DRC
Disclosure relating to Frontier’s resources and
reserves and the related qualified person(s) is
contained in the Company’s most recently filed
annual information form, which is available on
SEDAR and is also posted on the Company’s
website.

Oxide/mixed mineralization has been considered
waste, although in practice it will be stockpiled
separately for possible processing in the future
or for treatment at First Quantum’s Bwana
Mkubwa plant.

The Study is based on the treatment of 8 million
tonnes of sulphide ore per year for the production
of copper concentrate which will be shipped for
treatment at the Mufulira smelter of Mopani
Copper Mines Plc. The total construction capital
cost for the Frontier project is budgeted at $226
million. Average annual copper production from
Frontier is expected to be 73,000 tonnes over
the 19 year mine life.

Construction is well advanced and commercial
production is expected to begin in the third
quarter of 2007.
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The Company is targeting
production of 105,000 tonnes

of copper and 17,400 tonnes of
cobalt per year from Kolwezi.
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Kolwezi Copper-Cobalt Project, DRC
In 2006, the Company acquired 100% of Adastra
for $273 million. Adastra was a public international
mining company with its principal asset being
the Kolwezi copper-cobalt tailings project in the
DRC. The Kolwezi project is owned 65% by First
Quantum, 12.5% by La Générale des Carrieres
des Mines (Gécamines), 10% by Industrial
Development Corporation of South Africa, 7.5%
by International Finance Corporation and 5% by
the DRC Government.

The Kolwezi project is located to the north of
Kolwezi, a city located in the south of Katanga
province. The Kolwezi tailings are from historic
operations at the Kolwezi concentrator.

Disclosure relating to Kolwezi’s resources and
reserves and the related qualified person(s) is
contained in the Company’s most recently filed
annual information form, which is available on
SEDAR and is also posted on the Company’s
website.

The Company is considering the construction of
an intial 35,000 tonne per year copper facility
and 5,800 tonne per year cobalt facility which
would be designed to be expanded to 105,000
tonnes of copper per year and 17,400 tonnes of
cobalt per year. A detailed engineering study
and capital estimate is expected to be
completed in 2007.
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Exploration
In 2006, a wide-ranging exploration program for
new major copper deposits continued on wholly-
owned properties in Zambia and the DRC. The
Company has prospecting licenses covering
large areas within the Copperbelt. Drill programs
are ongoing on several prospective targets.

In December 2004, the Company announced
positive results from a reverse circulation drill
program at the Kashime prospect. Kashime is
approximately 140 kilometres by paved and dirt
road south east from Bwana. Highlights from
the 13 hole drill program included 56 metres
grading 2.08% copper, 55 metres grading 1.20%
copper and 101 metres grading 0.92% copper.  

A preliminary inferred oxide resource was
completed by independent consultants and in
February 2006, a program of combined reverse
circulation and diamond drilling was initiated to
improve definition. Oxide resource drilling
comprising totals of 9,100 metres of core drilling
and 6,500 metres of reverse circulation was

completed in July 2006. A new calculation of the
oxide resource will commence as soon as all
assay data has been received and validated to
determine the economics of this project.

In March 2006 the Company announced a new
discovery at the wholly-owned Kibamba
Exploration Permit, located approximately 75
kilometres west of the town of Likasi, within the
DRC portion of the Central African Copperbelt.

The Company completed airborne magnetics
and radiometrics surveys in 2004, and carried
out soil geochemistry in 2004 and 2005 over the
entire exploration permit. Four trenches were
excavated at the Subo Prospect in 2004. 2005
drill highlights from Subo included 80 metres
grading 2.20% copper and 0.25% cobalt, 75
metres grading 1.12% copper and 0.03% cobalt
and 82 metres grading 1.88% copper and 0.12%
cobalt. A follow up drill campaign was carried out
in 2006 and further drilling is planned in 2007.
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Investments
First Quantum holds an effective 16.9% interest,
through Carlisa Investment Corp., in Mopani
Copper Mines Plc (“Mopani”). Glencore
International AG owns 73.1% and Zambian
Consolidated Copper Mines owns the remaining
10%. The carrying value of this investment as at
December 31, 2006 was $9.5 million, unchanged
since 2002.

During the 2006 year, Mopani produced
approximately 135,000 tonnes of finished
copper and 1,400 tonnes of cobalt. Mopani is
currently carrying out important capital upgrades
at the mine including the construction of a new

smelter at Mufulira, which will increase its
handling capacity from 420,000 tonnes to
initially to 720,000 tonnes of copper
concentrate per year and eventually 850,000
tonnes of copper concentrate per year. The
smelter began commissioning in September and
is expected to be fully operational during the
first half of 2007. The Mufulira smelter will
provide smelting offtake for all Kansanshi and
Frontier concentrates. As at December 31, 2006,
Mopani had total assets of over $1 billion. As
the majority owner of Mopani is a private
company not registered in Zambia, only limited
public information is available. 
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First Quantum is committed to
sustainable development.

Medical clinic at Lonshi

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
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First Quantum is committed to sustainable
development, in that its investments should not
only be financially profitable and technically
appropriate, but should also be environmentally
sound and socially responsible. The Company
has environmental and social management
plans at each of its current operations. These
plans have been prepared in accordance with
the environmental regulations of the host
countries and are based on World Bank
guidelines and industry best practice. 

The Company has adopted the Equator
Principles and has begun development and
implementation of environmental and social
programs in 2007 to bring operations into
compliance. The Company has adopted and
published policies for the environment,
occupational health and safety as well as
human rights. 

Corporate Responsibility
Environment
The Company has environmental management
systems in place at each of its current
operations. The procedures and protocols that
form the operating framework of the Company’s
environmental management systems are in line
with ISO 14001 requirements. The overall goals
include: a commitment of management to
pollution prevention; compliance with pertinent
environmental regulations and legislation and
continual improvement to protect the environment.

In 2006, no significant environmental incidents
were reported. Zero discharge of process
effluent to surface waters is practiced at all
sites. Emissions from the Company’s three acid
plants at Bwana and Kansanshi during normal
operations were compliant with both Zambian
statutory limits and United Kingdom guidelines
for sulphur loss from single absorption acid plants.
The Company is in possession of all necessary
environmental permits and licenses. No
environmental penalties were incurred in 2006.

The environmental and social impact assessment
study for the Frontier copper project in the DRC
was approved by the Ministry of Mines in
January 2006. An ISO 14401 environmental
management system will be in place before
plant commissioning in mid 2007.
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Guelb Moghrein in Mauritania is located in a
desert environment where water is a precious
resource. Process water for the concentrator and
gold plant is presently pumped from the
Bennichab freshwater aquifer situated 113
kilometres from the mine. As part of its water
management plan and to preserve this water
resource for future generations, Guelb is
carrying out investigations to identify an
alternative saline water supply for the process
plant. The saline drilling programme and test
work will be complete in 2007. Guelb is also
maximising the recycling of process water from
the tailings dam and implementing procedures
on site to prevent the wastage of water.

Closure plans with costs have been prepared for
each operation. The closure plans are reviewed
annually.

Health and Safety
First Quantum implements internationally
accepted occupational health and safety
standards and procedures throughout its
operations. The Company complies with all
national laws of health and safety in the
workplace in order to create a safe workplace
thereby protecting its employees from accident
and sickness. These laws are in line with
International Labor Organization
recommendations.

In 2006, the Company made great efforts to
improve its health and safety performance.
Progress has been made on developing health
and safety procedures and guidelines which
support the Company’s goal of zero lost time
injuries. All employees and contractors now
undergo health and safety training as part of the
general environmental health and safety
induction programme. 

The Company is pleased to report no fatalities at
its operations in 2005 and 2006. Bwana
Mkubwa had an excellent safety record in 2006
with zero reported lost time injuries. The lost
day rates improved markedly in 2006 at all three
business units. Health and safety monitoring at
Guelb Moghrein began in September 2006. To
date, no lost time injuries have been reported.

Employee health and occupational illness is a
key focus area. In 2006, much emphasis has
been placed on improved monitoring of
occupational exposure to gas, dust and noise.
At the same time, there has been a drive by
safety departments to ensure employees wear
the correct personal protective equipment to
mitigate any potential exposure. 

First Quantum recognizes the importance of the
health of local communities in which it operates.
In Zambia the Company actively supports the

Health and safety performance indicators for 2005 & 2006

Kansanshi Bwana Lonshi

2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006
Number of fatalities 0 0 0 0 0 0
Injury rate* 0.44 0.45 0.75 0.00 0.12 0.11
Lost day rate* 11.69 4.65 14.50 6.19 6.05 1.52

* based on a rate of 200,000 labour hours

1) The per annum injury rates have been calculated by using the number of lost time injuries and dividing that figure by the
number of hours worked by employees; the result is then multiplied by 200,000 hours. The per annum lost day rates have
been calculated by using the number of lost days and dividing that figure by the number of hours worked by employees; the
result is then multiplied by 200,000 hours.
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government malaria ‘roll back’ programmes in
Ndola and Solwezi towns. In 2006, the Company
provided logistical support in the form of labour,
spray equipment and chemicals. During the
current programme it is planned to spray 52,000
houses in Ndola and 24,000 houses in Solwezi.
The Company makes available treated mosquito
nets to its employees at subsidized prices.  

HIV/Aids Programme

First Quantum recognises that a sustainable, fit
healthy workforce is essential for the company
to achieve its business objectives.
Implementation of the Company’s HIV/Aids
programme at its three Zambian business units
began in November 2005. The Zambian HIV
prevalence rate is approximately 16% of the
population. The Company’s HIV/Aids Policy
advocates a non-discriminatory approach to
addressing the epidemic and provides for
considerable support in terms of counselling,
free medical care including treatment of
opportunistic infections, and antiretroviral
treatment for all employees and their families.
The programme is run from the Company’s
Ndola office by a senior coordinator and site
HIV/Aids coordinators who are registered
nurses with specialist training in counselling
and testing, ART administration, and other
HIV/Aids related issues.  

In addition, First Quantum has entered into a
Global Development Alliance with other mining
companies in Zambia and the US Government.
In terms of this cooperative agreement First
Quantum is funded through USAID for various
HIV/Aids initiatives, technical support and
training programmes. USAID is funding the
tuition of 600 peer educators in addition to a
financial grant in support of the general
programme. The HIV/Aids introductory
programme was initiated in April 2006 and
involves a two hour training session delivered to
all employees. The objective of the programme
is to explain the Company’s policy, educate and
encourage all employees, their families and the
community at large to undergo voluntary
counselling and testing. In 2007 the Company
intends to extend its HIV/Aids programme to its
DRC operations.
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The children are 
Africa’s future.
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Social Responsibility
First Quantum is always mindful of its responsibility
towards the community in which it operates.

In 2006, the Kansanshi mine was pleased to
announce the establishment of the Kansanshi
Foundation. Some of the projects undertaken so
far by the foundation include the drilling and
equipping of water bores to supply clean water
to villages and communities surrounding the
mining license; resurfacing of the Solwezi town
market; repairs to town infrastructure including
bridges and roads; and the supply and
installation of a new chilling compressor and
repairs to the mortuary at Solwezi General
Hospital. In an effort to reduce deforestation in
the Solwezi area, Kansanshi has promoted
alternative livelihoods in the area including
beekeeping.      

In 2006, Bwana carried out a variety of
community projects. Activities varied from
repairs to town infrastructure such as roads 
and the Kafubu water and sewage works to 
the sponsorship of sports events, Zambian
sportsmen and the donation of sports
equipment to schools and sports clubs;
electrical improvements to schools and
orphanages, provision of water supplies to 
local village communities; dredging of local
watercourses to remove weed, improve flow and

prevent the breeding of mosquitoes and
assistance to the Forestry Department to mount
patrols to prevent deforestation in the Chondwe
and Kansansfwe forest reserves through which
the Bwana/Lonshi haul road passes.     

Guelb began implementing its Social Action Plan
in October 2006. To date work has focused on
the refurbishment of schools in Akjoujt, repairs
to medical facilities at the Akjoujt Hospital,
construction of shade houses to grow vegetables
for the local community, assistance to local
farming cooperatives in the form of water pumps
and pipes to enable irrigation and improve the
production of vegetables from garden plots in
the Akjoujt wadis, the provision of water
bladders in parts of Akjoujt town where there is
no reticulated water system, and the supply of
clean water at no cost to low income families
living along the 113 kilometre long Bennichab
pipeline.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
For the Fourth Quarter and Year Ended December 31, 2006

(Expressed in US Dollars) March 13, 2007

1. Highlights for the 2006 Year and Fourth Quarter
• Record net sales of $1,094.5 million in 2006, an increase of 146% compared to 2005
• Record net earnings of $414.4 million ($6.37 per share) in 2006, an increase of 171% compared to 2005
• Net earnings of $70.0 million ($1.04 per share) in the fourth quarter of 2006, an increase of 22% compared to the

fourth quarter of 2005
• Record cash flows from operating activities, before working capital movements, of $588.2 million ($9.04 per share)

in 2006, an increase of 149% compared to 2005
• Cash flow from operating activities, before working capital movements, of $85.0 million ($1.26 per share) in the

fourth quarter of 2006, a decrease of 16% compared to the fourth quarter of 2005
• Copper production for the year of 183,277 tonnes (403.9 million pounds), an increase of 54% compared to 2005 
• Copper sales for the year of 172,487 tonnes (380.2 million pounds), an increase of 45% compared to 2005
• Contained copper in concentrate inventory at December 31 of approximately 15,000 tonnes (33.1 million pounds)
• Guelb Moghrein in Mauritania achieved commercial production on October 5, 2006
• Acquired Adastra Minerals Inc. during the year
• New $400 million corporate credit facility entered into with a syndicate of international banks in October 2006 
• Dividends of $20.1 million paid to Company shareholders during the year
• The Company’s Board of Directors approved development of the Frontier Copper Project; construction is well

advanced; commercial production targeted for third quarter of 2007 
• Commissioning of high pressure leach project at Kansanshi commenced in November 2006

For further information on the Company, reference should be made to Section 2 or its public filings (including its most recently
filed AIF) which are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Information is also available at the Company’s website at  www.first-
quantum.com. In addition, reference should be made to the risk factors section contained in the Company’s most recently filed
AIF.  The following interim information is prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP and denominated in United States dollars,
unless otherwise noted.

2. Company Overview 
First Quantum Minerals Ltd. (the “Company”) is a Canadian listed mining company whose principal activities include mineral
exploration, development, mining, and the production of London Metal Exchange (“LME”) grade “A” copper cathode, copper
in concentrate, gold and sulphuric acid.  The discussion and analysis contained in this MD&A follows the reporting segments
as described in the Company’s most recently filed annual financial statements.  

The 80% owned Kansanshi operation is located near Solwezi, in Zambia and produces grade “A” copper cathode and
copper in concentrate. The copper concentrate produced includes a gold credit. The Kansanshi operation consumes
sulphuric acid from the Solwezi acid plant located on the same site which is owned and operated by a wholly owned
subsidiary First Quantum Mining and Operations Limited. Commissioning of the high pressure copper concentrate leach
project at Kansanshi is nearing completion.

The wholly owned Bwana/Lonshi operation includes an open pit mine at Lonshi, located in the Democratic Republic of
Congo (“DRC”), and the Bwana processing plants located in Zambia. The Bwana/Lonshi operation produces grade “A”
copper cathode and sulphuric acid from three acid plants. Two of these plants are located at Bwana Mkubwa while the
other plant is located at the Kansanshi site as mentioned above.

The 80% owned Guelb Moghrein (“Guelb”) operation is located in Mauritania and produces copper and gold in concentrate
and gold doré.  

The Company is currently developing its Frontier copper project, located near the town of Sakania in the DRC, within 2
kilometers of the Zambian border. This project is expected to achieve commercial production in the third quarter of 2007 and
will produce copper in concentrate.

The Company owns an effective 16.9% interest in Mopani Copper Mines Plc (“Mopani”), located in Zambia. The new Mufulira
smelter owned by Mopani was commissioned late in 2006. This smelter will provide capacity for the treatment of all of
Kansanshi’s surplus copper concentrate and 100% of Frontier’s concentrate production.
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The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Comisa, has the exclusive exploration rights over 37 exploration permits
with a total surface area of 11,000 square kilometers in the DRC. 

The Company acquired Adastra Minerals Inc. (“Adastra”) in a two step transaction during the year. Adastra was a listed
international mining company developing several mineral assets in Central Africa, including the Kolwezi Copper-Cobalt
Tailings Project in the DRC. The Company acquired 75% of Adastra in May 2006 and the remaining 25% in August 2006.
Since acquiring control of Adastra, the Company has been conducting a metallurgical testwork and piloting program in
order to determine whether a revised process design for the Kolwezi tailings project is required.

3. Financial Results
Net earnings for 2006 were $414.4 million or $6.37 per share (weighted average common shares – 65,087,605) as compared
to $152.8 million or $2.48 per share (weighted average common shares – 61,498,338) during the 2005 year. This net income
increase of 171% was due to an 83% increase in the average LME cash copper price and a 54% increase in copper
production. The operating cash inflow for the twelve month period, before working capital movements, was $588.2 million
or $9.04 per share and after working capital movements was $512.0 million or $7.87 per share.  

Net earnings for the fourth quarter were $70.0 million or $1.04 per share (weighted average common shares – 67,286,631)
as compared to $57.1 million or $0.93 per share (weighted average common shares – 61,638,650) for 2005. This net income
increase of 22% was due to a 65% increase in the average LME cash copper price compared to the same period in 2005,
which was in part offset by a loss as a result of provisional pricing due to a decrease in the average LME cash copper price
between September 30, 2006 to December 31, 2006. The operating cash inflow for the fourth quarter, before working
capital movements, was $85.0 million or $1.26 per share and after working capital movements was $146.4 million or $2.18
per share.  

4. Production and Statement of Earnings Discussion

Copper Production

Copper production in 2006 was 183,277 tonnes, of which, 69% was from Kansanshi, 28% was from Bwana, and 3% was from
Guelb. Combined copper production increased by 54% over the 2005 year, which was principally due to Kansanshi
production increasing 83% compared to the same period of 2005; the 2006 year was Kansanshi’s first full twelve month
period with commercial production achieved in the second quarter of 2005.

Fourth quarter copper production was 46,531 tonnes, of which, 62% was from Kansanshi, 27% was from Bwana, and 11%
was from Guelb. Combined copper production increased by 2% over the third quarter of 2006, which was principally due to
Guelb achieving commercial production on October 5, 2006. Kansanshi and Bwana fourth quarter copper production
decreased from the third quarter of 2006 by 10% and 6%, respectively, due to the processing of lower grade ore.  

Chart 1: Quarterly Copper Production
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Revenues

Table 1:  Revenue Statistics

Fourth Quarter Twelve Months

2004 2005 2006 2004 2005 2006
Revenues (millions)

Copper $29.2 $174.2 $212.0 $103.3 $434.1 $1,073.9
Gold – 2.7 4.4 – 6.7 20.1
Acid 1.5 – – 10.2 3.8 0.4

Total Revenue $30.7 $176.9 216.4 $113.5 $444.6 $1,094.4

Gross copper selling price (per lb) (1) $1.20 $2.09 $2.54 $1.15 $1.79 $3.12
Realized copper price (per lb) $1.17 $1.97 $2.32 $1.12 $1.66 $2.82
Average LME cash copper price (per lb) $1.40 $1.95 $3.21 $1.30 $1.67 $3.05
Realized gold price (per oz) – $467 $628 – $470 $601
Average gold price (per oz) $434 $485 $614 $409 $445 $604

Sales Statistics (2)

Copper (tonnes) 11,307 40,203 41,454 41,980 118,602 172,487
Gold (ounces) – 5,766 6,944 – 14,266 33,497
Acid (tonnes) 9,664 219 8 66,460 22,327 2,363

(1)  Gross copper selling price is defined as realized copper selling price plus tolling and refining charges and freight parity
charges

(2)  Copper sales and production volumes refer to contained copper in either concentrate or cathode.

Twelve Months 2006
The 2006 year’s sales revenue increased by 146% over the 2005 year. This increase was the result of an increase in the
average LME cash copper price of 83% and an increase in the tonnes of copper sold by 45% over the 2005 year. In addition,
included in sales revenue was a positive adjustment of $30.9 million related to prior year’s copper sales that were
provisionally priced at December 31, 2005.

Fourth Quarter 2006
Fourth quarter revenues increased by 22% over the same period in 2005. This increase was the result of an increase in the
average LME cash copper price of 65% and an increase in the tonnes of copper sold by 3% over the same period in 2005.
However, the Company recognized negative sales adjustments of $31.7 million related to prior period’s copper sales that
were provisionally priced at September 30, 2006. 

Provisional Revenue

Table 2:  Copper Revenue

Fourth Quarter Twelve Months

2004 2005 2006 2004 2005 2006
Copper Revenue (millions)

Current period sales (1) $29.2 $168.2 $243.7 $103.3 $434.1 $1,043.0
Prior period provisional  adjustments (2) – $6.0 $(31.7) – – $30.9

Total Copper Revenue $29.2 $174.2 $212.0 $103.3 $434.1 $1,073.9

(1) Recognized at the settlement price or the LME copper forward price at the end of the respective period

(2) The provisional adjustment reflects the settlement or provisional price adjustment of prior period copper sales

The Company received final price determination on its sales of copper  based on prices prevailing up to between three and
nine months subsequent to the actual  month of shipment. Consequently, the final price for sales which have been made
during the latter months of the period is not known with certainty at the end of the period. At the end of each period, a
positive or negative adjustment is recorded to reflect the difference in the price initially recorded at the time of shipment
and the forward LME copper price until final settlement is made.  

As at December 31, 2006 there were 43,440 tonnes of contained copper that have been provisionally priced at an average
LME copper price of $2.87 per pound. This revenue will be subject to future adjustments as a result of movements in the
copper price. Of this amount, 11,124 tonnes had the final price determined in January 2007 at $2.57 per pound, 14,089
tonnes determined in February 2007 at $2.57 per pound, 9,252 tonnes will be determined in March 2007, and 8,975 tonnes
thereafter. 
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As the majority of Kansanshi’s copper in concentrate production from January 1, 2007 onwards will be treated at the
Mopani’s Mufulira smelter rather than having to be exported, provisional pricing earnings volatility may be reduced as
shipment periods will be significantly reduced. 

Consolidated Cash and Total Costs
Total costs have increased steadily over the past eight quarters due, principally, to increases in processing costs, tolling
charges (TCs) refining charges (RCs) and freight parity charges. Overall, there has been a 28% increase in total costs
compared to 2005.

Chart 2: Quarterly Group Cash Costs and Total Costs

Total mining costs have increased over the past eight quarters due to increased waste stripping and increased fuel and wage
costs, however, due to the Company’s accounting policy for deferred stripping, mining costs per pound remained relatively
consistent over the past eight quarters. Deferred stripping allows for the deferral of the additional waste removal costs that
the Company has incurred during the past years to be deferred to future periods, based on management’s estimated strip
ratio over the life of each mine. Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted a new accounting policy that requires
stripping costs to be accounted for as variable production costs to be included in inventory. Refer to ‘Section 10 – Non-GAAP
Measures, Future Changes in Accounting Policies and Other’ for detailed information on the adoption of this new policy.

Processing costs have increased by 30% compared to 2005. Maintenance costs have increased due to the processing of
harder ore at Kansanshi and the increase in the volume of ore processed. In addition, increases in costs associated with oil
based consumables, electricity, sulphur, and wages have all contributed to the increased processing costs.

TCs and RCs and freight parity charges increased over the eight quarters as they were directly related to the increased
copper concentrate sold and cathode production from tolled concentrates. In addition, the price participation component
of the RCs increased with the rising LME copper price. However, with the decrease in the LME copper price from September
30, 2006 to December 31, 2006, there was a recovery of previous quarter’s price participation on provisionally priced sales
resulting in zero price participation costs in the fourth quarter of 2006.

Refer to ‘Section 6 – Segmented Information’ for detailed information on the segmented total costs and cash costs.

Other Expenses

Table 3:  Other Expenses 

Fourth Quarter Twelve Months

2004 2005 2006 2004 2005 2006
Other Expenses ($ millions)
Depletion and amortization $3.0 $13.2 $16.0 $10.9 $36.5 $56.1
Exploration 1.0 3.8 6.7 3.1 7.5 18.9
General and administrative 1.7 2.0 2.8 5.0 6.7 12.5
Stock based compensation 0.5 0.9 2.0 1.2 3.0 6.7
Interest and finance fees 0.7 9.3 13.7 3.0 19.4 32.7
Other expenses (income) (0.9) 13.5 (0.7) (0.7) 0.9 55.6
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Twelve Months 2006
Depletion and amortization expense increased 53% over 2005 principally due to the Company’s increase in copper
production over the same period.

Exploration expense increased 152% over 2005 due to increased costs associated with expanding the Company’s mineral
property base.

General and administrative expense increased 86% over 2005 due to increased wages, as well as increased administrative
costs as a result of the continued growth of the Company.

Stock based compensation expense increased 124% over 2005 due to the implementation of the new long-term incentive
plan. The Company recognized $2.6 million of compensation expense related to this new plan during the year.

Interest and finance fees expense increased 69% over 2005 due to an increase of $7.1 million of amortized deferred finance
fees related to the repayment of the Company’s debt facilities during the year and an increase in long-term debt levels
since December 31, 2005.

Other expenses included foreign exchange translation losses of $8.0 million and derivative instrument losses of $58.2
million. Included in the foreign exchange loss was $4.4 million related to the translation of the Euro denominated Kansanshi
subordinated debt. The derivative instrument losses were a direct result of the increase in the LME cash copper price during
the year. These losses were offset by a gain on the disposal of investments held for resale of $1.8 million and interest
income of $8.8 million. The increase over the 2005 year was principally due to the increase in the derivative instrument
losses.

Fourth Quarter 2006
Depletion and amortization expense increased 21% over the same period in 2005 principally due to increased production
and an increase in depreciable property.

Exploration expense increased 75% over the same period in 2005 due to increased costs associated with expanding the
Company’s mineral property base.

General and administrative expense increased 40% over the same period in 2005 due to increased salaries and wages, as
well as increased administrative costs, resulting from the continued growth and expansion of the Company’s activities and
assets.

Stock based compensation expense increased 109% over the same period of 2005 due to the implementation of the new
long-term incentive plan in July 2006.  The Company recognized $0.9 million of compensation expense related to this new
plan during the fourth quarter.

Interest and finance fees expense increased 47% over the same period in 2005 due, principally, to the amortization of $8.7
million of previously deferred finance fees in the fourth quarter related to the repayment of the Kansanshi senior debt
facility, the Guelb facility, and the corporate bridge facility.

Other expenses included foreign exchange losses of $3.1million, interest income of $2.8 million and derivative instrument
gains of $0.9 million  The decrease from the same period in 2005 was principally due to derivative instrument losses of $12.7
million in the fourth quarter of 2005. Reference should be made to ‘Section 8 – Other Matters’ for a full description of the
Company’s derivative instruments.

5. Consolidated Cash Flow Discussion

Table 4:  Cash Flow Information

Fourth Quarter Twelve Months

2004 2005 2006 2004 2005 2006
Cash Flows from ($ millions)
Operating activities

Before working capital movements $9.8 $101.0 $85.0 $46.3 $236.1 $588.2
After working capital movements 2.9 115.5 146.4 30.7 201.8 512.0

Financing activities 49.0 (1.6) 53.1 199.5 13.6 13.4
Investing activities (52.5) (94.4) (139.8) (206.1) (183.0) (358.6)
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Twelve Months 2006
Cash flows from operating activities before working capital movements increased by 149% over the 2005 year due,
principally, to the increase in net income. The difference between the before and after non-cash working capital movements
was principally attributable to the increase in accounts receivable, inventory and accounts payable. Accounts receivable
increased primarily due to the increase of provisionally priced sales outstanding at December 31, 2006.  Inventory increased
142% due to the increase in ore in stockpiles of $10.4 million, the increase in finished product inventory of $33.0 million and
the increase in consumable stores inventory of $42.2 million. Accounts payable increased $115.3 million primarily due to
an increase in current income taxes payable. In addition, a payment of $15.6 million was made for the new long term
incentive plan.

The cash flows from financing activities included a net draw down of $50.5 million in long term debt facilities used to
partially fund the Kansanshi, Guelb and Frontier projects. This was in part offset by dividend payments of $20.1 million, long
term debt finance fee payments of $10.8 million and deferred premium obligation payments of $9.2 million. 

The cash outflows from investing activities included $264.3 million in continued capital investment at Kansanshi, Guelb, and
Frontier, as well as deferred stripping payments at Kansanshi, Comisa, and Guelb amounting to $37.8 million. In addition,
the Company paid a net $27.8 million to acquire Adastra and $35.6 million to acquire marketable securities held for long-
term investment purposes.

Fourth Quarter 2006
Cash flows from operating activities before working capital movements decreased by 16% compared to the same period in
2005. This was primarily due to the Company’s increase in income taxes paid of $21.0 million during the quarter. The
difference between the before and after non-cash working capital movements was principally attributable to the decrease
in accounts receivable, offset by the increase in inventory and the increase in accounts payable. Accounts receivable
decreased primarily due to provisional pricing adjustments related to the declining LME copper price. Inventory increased
by 28% primarily due to the increase in finished product inventory of $19.3 million and an increase in consumable stores
inventory of $12.5 million. Accounts payable increased $25.1 million primarily due to an increase in current income taxes
payable.

The cash flows from financing activities for the fourth quarter included a $225.0 million drawdown of the new $400.0
million corporate revolving and term loan facility, which was offset by the repayment of other existing long-term debt
facilities of $160.9 million and the payment of $8.9 million in long term debt finance fees. 

The cash outflows from investing activities included $84.4 million in continued capital investment at Kansanshi, Guelb,
and Frontier. Deferred stripping payments at Kansanshi, Comisa, and Guelb amounted to $17.0 million during the quarter.
In addition, the Company purchased $35.6 million in marketable securities held for investment purposes.
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6. Segmented Information

Twelve Months Segmented Information

Table 5:  Twelve Month Selected Segmented Cash Costs and Operating Information(3)

Kansanshi Bwana/Lonshi Guelb

2005 2006 2004 2005 2006 2006
C Costs
Combined Costs Kansanshi (per lb) (1)

Mining $0.08 $0.14
Processing $0.36 $0.49
Site Administration $0.04 $0.02
TC RCs $0.19 $0.33
Gold / Acid credit $(0.04) $(0.07)

Combined Cash Costs $0.63 $0.91
Combined Total Costs $0.79 $1.09
Cathode Costs (per lb) (1)

Mining $0.08 $0.13 $0.21 $0.36 $0.37
Processing $0.42 $0.56 $0.25 $0.31 $0.38
Site Administration $0.04 $0.02 $0.05 $0.07 $0.09
TC RCs – $0.05 – – –
Gold / Acid credit – $(0.01) $(0.05) $(0.06) $(0.08)

Cathode Cash Costs $0.54 $0.75 $0.46 $0.68 $0.76
Cathode Total Costs $0.70 $0.93 $0.62 $0.93 $1.04
Concentrate Costs (per lb) (1)

Mining $0.07 $0.14 0.13
Processing $0.28 $0.38 0.77
Site Administration $0.05 $0.03 0.08
TC RCs $0.50 $0.75 0.86
Gold / Acid credit $(0.12) $(0.15) (0.15)

Concentrate Cash Costs $0.78 $1.15 1.69
Concentrate Total Costs $0.94 $1.34 2.18

Production Statistics
Waste mined (000’s tonnes) 16,141 21,911 11,029 17,246 18,843 1,719
Ore mined (000’s tonnes) 7,288 9,534 669 981 520 400
Ore grade (%) 2.1 1.4 5.5 5.1 10.3 1.5
Sulphide ore processed (000’s tonnes) (3) 1,521 4,410 334
Oxide ore processed (000’s tonnes) 2,689 4,771 980 1,352 1,265
Sulphide ore grade processed (%) (3) 1.9 1.3 2.0
Oxide ore grade processed (%) 1.8 1.5 4.8 4.2 4.5
Copper cathode produced (tonnes) 41,521 73,683 41,546 49,538 51,068
Copper in concentrate produced (tonnes) 28,058 53,496 5,031
Concentrate grade(2) (%) 28.9 27.1 21.3

(1) For the definition of cash and total costs, reference should be made to Section 10   

(2) Refers to contained copper in concentrate.  

(3) Excludes pre-commercial production
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Kansanshi 
During the 2005 year, the world shortage of mining truck tires had impaired the availability of the Company’s haul trucks
at Solwezi.  The 34% increase this year compared with 2005 was reflective of the easing of the tire shortages, accompanied
by the improved equipment availability and the larger drilling and haul truck fleet.  

Cathode total costs increased 33% per pound over 2005 due, principally, to increased ore costs, processing costs and
tolling charges, which were incurred for the first time due to the production of cathode from concentrate. The increase in ore
costs was due to the processing of lower grade ore and higher fuel and wage costs. The processing of lower grade ore also
led to increased leach costs due to increased acid consumption and higher acid prices. Tolling charges resulted from the
processing of copper in concentrates at the Mufulira smelter returned as cathodes. The balance of the increase is explained
by higher maintenance costs associated with the processing of higher volumes of harder ore. 

Included within cathode production were 67,656 tonnes from the SX/EW process and 6,027 tonnes produced from the
tolling of copper concentrates at the Mufulira smelter. Production increased by 77% over 2005 as Kansanshi continued to
ramp up after achieving commercial production during April 2005, as well as cathode production from the toll treatment of
concentrate production commenced in 2006.

Concentrate production was up by 91% over 2005 as Kansanshi continued to ramp up after achieving commercial production
during April 2005. Concentrate total costs increased 42% per pound as compared to 2005 due to increased ore costs and
processing costs, including TC RCs, price participation and higher freight parity charges. The increase in ore costs was due
to the processing of lower grade ore and higher fuel and wage costs. Maintenance costs also increased due to the increase
in the volume of lower grade, harder ore processed. In addition, TC RCs increased by $0.13 per pound due to price
participation and the increased average copper price compared to 2005. As well, freight charges increased by $0.13 per
pound due, principally, to the delay in completion of the Mopani smelter requiring the Company to export concentrates.

Bwana/Lonshi 
The strip ratio for the year was 36.2:1. The ore grade mined was 10.3% copper. The decrease in ore mined compared to 2005
was due to the increased stripping. Total material mined increased 6% from 2005 despite difficult mining conditions and can
principally be attributed to the larger mining fleet utilized during the course of 2006.

Production achieved was 3% more than 2005 as Bwana processed more ore at a higher grade in 2006. Total costs increased
by 11% per pound over the 2005 year due to increased processing costs which were impacted by increased oil based
consumables, sulphur, and electricity costs.  

Guelb Moghrein
Guelb produced 5,031 tonnes of copper in concentrate in the period from achieving commercial production on October 5,
2006 to year end. Production costs were higher than planned primarily due to initial start up processing costs and the
continued ramp up of production.  
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Fourth Quarter Segmented Information

Table 6:  Q4 Selected Segmented Cash Costs and Operating Information (3)

Kansanshi Bwana/Lonshi Guelb

2005 2006 2004 2005 2006 2006
C Costs
Combined Costs Kansanshi (per lb) (1)

Mining $0.06 $0.14
Processing $0.38 $0.62
Site Administration $0.04 $0.04
TC RCs $0.21 $0.27
Gold / Acid credit $(0.04) $(0.05)

Combined Cash Costs $0.65 $1.02
Combined Total Costs $0.76 $1.21
Cathode Costs (per lb) (1)

Mining $0.06 $0.12 $0.21 $0.49 $0.34
Processing $0.42 $0.68 $0.26 $0.34 $0.43
Site Administration $0.04 $0.04 $0.04 $0.09 $0.07
TC RCs - $0.08 - - -
Gold / Acid credit - $(0.02) $(0.03) $(0.08) $(0.09)

Cathode Cash Costs $0.52 $0.90 $0.48 $0.84 $0.75
Cathode Total Costs $0.63 $1.08 $0.58 $1.16 $1.00
Concentrate Costs (per lb) (1)

Mining $0.06 $0.18 0.13
Processing $0.30 $0.51 0.77
Site Administration $0.05 $0.04 0.08
TC RCs $0.57 $0.63 0.86
Gold / Acid credit $(0.11) $(0.11) (0.15)

Concentrate Cash Costs $0.87 $1.25 1.69
Concentrate Total Costs $0.98 $1.47 2.18

Production Statistics
Waste mined (000’s tonnes) 5,240 7,123 2,926 5,918 4,081 1,719
Ore mined (000’s tonnes) 1,499 2,380 261 209 80 400
Ore grade (%) 1.9 1.4 6.4 6.1 10.4 1.5
Sulphide ore processed (000’s tonnes) 580 1,212 334
Oxide ore processed (000’s tonnes) 1039 1,080 256 397 294
Sulphide ore grade processed (%) 2.0 0.9 2.0
Oxide ore grade processed (%) 1.9 1.6 5.0 3.6 4.3
Copper cathode produced (tonnes) 18,324 19,006 10,942 12,662 12,479
Copper in concentrate produced (tonnes) 11,234 10,015 5,031
Concentrate grade (2) (%) 28.7 26.9 21.3

(1) For the definition of cash and total costs, reference should be made to Section 10    

(2) Refers to contained copper in concentrate.  

(3) Excludes pre-commercial production

Kansanshi 
The total material mined increased 41% over the same period in 2005. This increase was attributable to the arrival of
additional drilling units, medium sized excavators and trucks. As well, major haul roads and pit ramps were upgraded
which significantly minimized delays by rain. Training was also intensified on operating in slippery conditions, which also
had a significant effect on production during the wet season. 

Cathode total costs increased 71% per pound compared to the same period in 2005 due to increased ore costs, processing
costs and tolling charges.  The increase in ore costs was due to the processing of lower grade ore and higher fuel and wage
costs. The processing of lower grade ore also led to increased leach costs as the acid consumption increased 46% due to
the increase and type of ore processed. In addition, acid prices increased due to a shortage of surplus acid from the Bwana
acid plant requiring Kansanshi to purchase acid from other vendors at higher prices. Tolling charges from processing copper
in concentrates at the Mufulira smelter returned as cathodes were not incurred in the same period in 2005. The balance of
the increase is explained by higher maintenance costs associated with the processing of higher volumes of harder ore.
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Included within the cathode production were 17,201 tonnes from the SX/EW process and 1,805 tonnes produced from the
tolling of copper concentrates at the Mufulira smelter. There was no tolled copper cathode production in the same period
of 2005. Production increased 4% over the same period in 2005; however 10% of this production was due to the tolling of
copper in concentrates resulting in a production decrease of 6% in the SX/EW process. This decrease in production was due
to the processing of lower grade ore as compared to the same period in 2005.  

Concentrate production was 11% lower than the same period in 2005 primarily due to the processing of lower grade ore
during the quarter. Concentrate total costs increased 50% per pound as compared to the same period in 2005 due,
principally, to increased ore costs and processing costs. The increase in ore costs was due to the processing of lower grade
ore and higher fuel and wage costs. Maintenance costs also increased due to the increase in the volume of lower grade,
harder ore processed. As well, freight charges increased due, principally, to the delay in completion of the Mopani smelter
requiring the Company to export concentrates.

Bwana/Lonshi 
The strip ratio for the quarter was 51:1. Total material mined decreased 32% over the same period of 2005, principally due
to the high water levels and difficult mining conditions typically associated with dolomite rock formations. Ore mined
decreased 62%, due to the mining of waste in the North pushback and increased drill and blast in the pit due to dolomite
rock. Notwithstanding this, copper production has been maintained as a result of the significant increase in the high grade
ore mined from an average of 6.1% to 10.4%. This high grade ore was blended with low grade ore, previously stockpiled at
Lonshi, to bring the processed ore grade down to approximately 4.3%. 

Production remained comparable with the same period in 2005; however total costs decreased by 14% per pound as
compared to the same period in 2005 due to lower ore costs and depreciation charges. Ore costs decreased by 30% due to
the processing of higher grade ore in the fourth quarter of 2006. This was offset by an increase in processing costs of 28%
due, principally, to increased oil based consumables, sulphur, and electricity costs. In addition, depreciation charges
decreased by 32% as the depreciable capital base of Bwana/Lonshi was lower than during the same period in 2005.

Guelb Moghrein
Commercial production was achieved on October 5, 2006. Production costs are higher than planned primarily due to initial
start up processing costs and the continued ramp up of production.  

7. Balance Sheet Discussion

Assets
The Company’s assets increased 134% from the previous
year. Current assets of $564.8 million increased 141% due,
principally, to increases in cash, accounts receivable and
inventory.  

Cash and cash equivalents increased by $166.6 million
from the previous year due to higher cash flows resulting
from the higher net income. In addition, the Company had
$15.0 million in restricted cash that was being held for
debt servicing requirements related to the corporate
revolving and term loan facility.  

Accounts receivable increased $79.9 million from the
previous year due to the provisional pricing of copper
sales and increased sales volumes. The tonnes of
provisionally priced copper at December 31, 2006
increased by 52% compared to December 31, 2005 and
the provisional LME copper price increased from $2.08 to
$2.85 per pound.  

Inventory increased $86.5 million from the previous year due to increases in ore stockpiles of $10.4 million, increases in
finished product inventory of $33.0 million and increases in consumable stores inventory of $42.2 million. As at December
31, 2006 the Company had approximately 15,000 tonnes of contained copper in concentrate inventoried at Kansanshi and
Guelb.  

Investments increased by $35.6 million during the year as the Company acquired marketable securities that were being held
for long-term investment purposes.
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The net increase in property, plant and equipment of $596.8 million was due to the Company’s acquisition of Adastra (refer
to ‘Section 8 – Other Matters’ under Adastra Acquisition) and the Company’s continuing investment in Guelb, Frontier and
the upgrades at Kansanshi including the high pressure leach project.

Total other assets and deferred charges were $76.4 million, which comprised deferred stripping assets of $44.6 million,
deferred finance fees of $10.0 million, prepaid power and other charges of $16.7 million, future income tax asset of $2.5
million, and unrealized fair value of derivative instruments of $2.6 million. The increase in other assets and deferred charges
of $37.6 million was due, principally, to the increased stripping at Kansanshi, Comisa and Guelb.

Liabilities
The Company’s liabilities increased 75% from the previous
year. Current liabilities of $271.9 million increased 72%
primarily due to increases in current income taxes payable
of $93.9 million.  

The total long-term debt (including current portion)
increased by $59.9 million to fund the continuing
development of Kansanshi, Guelb and Frontier projects.

Other liabilities, including the current portion, was $57.6
million, which comprised of unrealized fair value of
derivative liability of $26.6 million, deferred premium
obligations of $8.5 million, asset retirement obligations
of $5.0 million and other deferred payables of $17.4
million.   

The future income tax liability increased by $130.0 million,
of which, $109.5 million was related to the purchase price
allocation on the acquisition of Adastra. The balance of
the increase was primarily related to timing differences between the recognition of depletion and amortization for
accounting purposes and capital allowances for taxation purposes.  

Shareholders’ Equity
During the year, the Company issued approximately 4.7 million common shares as part of the Adastra acquisition (refer to
section 8 of the MD&A for further details).

Table 7:  Financial Position – Equity, Dividends and Working Capital
2004 2005 2006

Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31
Equity accounts ($ millions) $161.8 $166.6 $396.0
Retained earnings ($ millions) $(4.0) $144.8 $539.1
Shareholders’ equity ($ millions) $157.8 $311.4 $935.1
Weighted average # shares (000’s) (1) 60,123 61,498 65,088
Diluted weighted average # shares (000’s) 61,235 63,011 66,442
Outstanding # shares (000’s) 61,239 61,674 67,291 
Interim dividend declared (CA$ per share) – 0.020 0.095
Final dividend (CA$ per share) (2) 0.060 0.265 –
Working capital ($ millions) 33.9 76.2 292.9

(1) The weighted average number of shares is calculated after reducing the shares outstanding by the number of shares acquired
under the new long-term incentive plan, as these shares are treated as treasury shares

(2) The 2006 final dividend has yet to be declared

During the third quarter of 2006, the Company implemented a new employee long-term incentive plan, which provides for
the award of performance stock units (“PSUs”) and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) in such amounts as are approved by the
Company’s Compensation Committee. Each PSU entitles participants, which includes directors, officers, and employees, to
receive one common share of the Company at the end of a three year period if certain performance and vesting criteria
have been met. Each RSU entitles the participant to receive one common share of the Company subject to vesting criteria.

The Company established an independent trust to purchase on the open market the common shares necessary to satisfy
the PSUs and RSUs issued. The trust purchased 276,021 common shares of the Company with a value of $15.6 million.
The Company consolidated the trust as it constituted a variable interest entity. Consequently, the shares purchased by the
trust to satisfy obligations under the plan were recorded as treasury shares in shareholders’ equity.  

As at December 31, 2006, the Company had 1,979,000 options outstanding. The weighted average exercise price of the
options was CA$18.69. 
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Dividends
In December 2005, the Company announced a dividend policy whereby dividends would be declared based on the
company’s earnings performance and cash flow position. For the 2005 year the Board determined that the annual dividend
would be 10% of after tax profits. Consistent with this policy, the Company declared a final dividend for 2005 of CA$0.265
per share (26.5 Canadian cents) payable to shareholders of record as of April 19, 2006.  This payment was made on May 10,
2006. An interim dividend for the 2006 financial year, equivalent to one third of the prior year’s total dividend, of CA$0.095
(9.5 Canadian cents) was declared in August 2006 and paid in September 2006 to shareholders of record on August 22,
2006.

Working capital
As at December 31, 2006, the working capital of the Company was $292.9 million. The increase in the Company’s working
capital is primarily the result of the positive cash flow from operations.

Contractual Obligations 

Table 8:  Payments Due by Period

Less than 1– 2 2 – 3 3 – 4 4 – 5 
($ millions) Total 1 year years years years years Thereafter
Term debt 294.9 57.7 55.0 54.9 54.9 52.5 19.9
Deferred payments 14.2 11.7 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.9
Commitments 96.1 96.1 - - - - -
Asset retirement obligations 5.0 0.5 2.0 - - - 2.5

Included in commitments is $49.5 million related to the Frontier project and $42.9 million related to the high pressure
leach project at Kansanshi.

In October 2006, the Company executed final documentation for a $400.0 million corporate revolving term credit facility that
was used to restructure the Company’s existing project based debt, provide financing for the Frontier project and provide
a revolving facility to be used for general purposes.   The Company drew down the first $225.0 million of the new corporate
facility and repaid all of the Company’s credit facilities, except for the subordinated Kansanshi EIB and Glencore
International AG facilities.

8. Other Matters

Adastra Acquisition
The Company acquired 100% of Adastra in a two step transaction. Adastra was a listed international mining company with
its principal asset being the Kolwezi Copper-Cobalt Tailings Project in the DRC. On May 1, 2006, the Company acquired
75% of the outstanding shares of Adastra and has therefore consolidated Adastra’s operating results since May 1, 2006. On
August 11, 2006, the Company was deemed to have acquired the remaining 25% of the outstanding shares of Adastra.

The acquisition of Adastra has been accounted for as an asset purchase with the total consideration paid being comprised
of:

$000’s
Issuance of common shares 234,868
Cash 34,972
Transaction costs 3,441

273,281

Frontier Copper Deposit, DRC
In May 2004, the Company announced the results of an independent copper-cobalt resource estimate completed at the
Frontier project located in Haut Katanga Province, DRC.  In January 2006, the Frontier Environmental Impact Assessment and
Environmental Management Plan were formally approved by the Congolese Ministry of Mines and the Exploitation Permit
was granted in February 2006.  

In November 2006, the Company announced details of the construction of a $226 million facility producing an average of
73,000 tonnes of copper in concentrate per year over a mine life of 19 years and an updated resource estimate.  Average life-
of-mine cash costs including TC RCs and freight parity charges are expected to be $1.04 per pound of finished copper,
based on the most recent engineering study.  Construction activities began in April of 2006 and commercial production is
forecast to begin in the third quarter of 2007.  

As at December 31, 2006, the Company had capitalized $116.4 million (2005: $9.9m) in development costs, civil construction
and plant construction and design for Frontier. 
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Kashime Copper Prospect, Zambia
A preliminary inferred oxide resource has been completed by independent consultants and in February 2006, a program of
combined reverse circulation and diamond drilling was initiated to improve definition. Oxide resource drilling comprising
totals of 9,100 metres of core drilling and 6,500 metres of reverse circulation was completed in July and assay results for acid
soluble copper are still being received. A re-run of the oxide resource estimation will commence as soon as all assay data
has been received and validated to determine the economics of this project.

Kibamba Copper Prospect, DRC
On March 27, 2006, the Company announced a new discovery at its Kibamba copper prospect in the DRC. Drilling is ongoing
and the results will be released in due course.  

Investments – Carlisa
The Company holds an 18.8% interest in Carlisa Investment Corp. (“Carlisa”), which holds a 90% interest in Mopani. The
carrying value of this investment as at December 31, 2006 was $9.5 million, unchanged since 2002. During the 2006 year,
Mopani produced approximately 135,000 tonnes of finished copper and 1,400 tonnes of cobalt. Mopani is currently carrying
out important capital upgrades at the mine including the construction of a new smelter at Mufulira, which will increase its
handling capacity from 420,000 tonnes to initially 720,000 tonnes of copper concentrate per year and eventually 850,000
tonnes of copper concentrate per year. The smelter began commissioning in September and is expected be fully operational
during the first quarter of 2007. The Mufulira smelter will provide smelting offtake for all Kansanshi and Frontier
concentrates. As at December 31, 2006, Mopani had total assets of over $1 billion. As the majority owner of Mopani is a
private company not registered in Zambia, only limited public information is available. 

Financial Instruments
From time to time, to satisfy the requirements of its lending institutions and to manage copper price risk exposure, the
Company enters into derivative instruments to reduce the risk exposure to copper and gold prices, foreign currency, and
interest rate movements. These instruments consist of forward and option contracts, interest rate protection contracts,
and foreign currency protection contracts.

As at December 31, 2006, the following derivative positions were outstanding:

Table 9:  Derivative Positions

2007 2008 2009 Total Fair Value

Copper 
Put options (tonnes) 86,016 – – 86,016 $0
Price ($/tonne) $1,800 – –
Gold
Put options (oz) 37,380 24,060 38,028 99,468 $3
Price ($/oz) $350 $350 $350
Forward Contracts (oz) 37,380 24,060 38,028 99,468 $(26,635)
Price ($/oz) $400 $400 $400
Other
Interest rate swaps $169
Cross currency swaps $2,416

The Company recorded $58.2 million in derivative instrument losses during the year. Included in these losses were cash
settlements on 24,000 tonnes of collar option contracts of $49.3 million. The Company also made cash settlement and
premium payments on copper put and gold put and forward option contracts of $11.1 million. These losses were the direct
result of the appreciation of the copper and gold price during the year.

Seasonality
The Company’s results as discussed in this MD&A are subject to seasonal aspects, in particular the wet season in DRC and
Zambia.  The wet season in the DRC and Zambia generally starts in November and continues through until April, with the
heaviest rainfall normally experienced in the months of January, February and March. As a result of the wet season, pit
access and the ability to mine ore is lower in the first quarter of the year than other quarters and the cost of mining is also
higher.  In addition, the Company’s exploration program is generally curtailed during the wet season due to site access
issues.

Rainfall for the month of December 2006 was the highest monthly amount on record for each operation in Zambia and the
DRC and continued throughout January and February 2007. The rainfall had an impact on the fourth quarter operating
results, which has not been quantified, and had a minor impact on various project activities.  
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9. Outlook 

Production Forecast
On a group basis, the Company expects to produce approximately 240,000 – 250,000 tonnes of copper in 2007, which is an
increase of 32% to 38% over 2006 copper production. This expected production includes approximately 145,000 tonnes
from Kansanshi, approximately 45,000 tonnes from Bwana/Lonshi, approximately 30,000 tonnes from Guelb Moghrein, and
approximately 30,000 tonnes from Frontier. Group cash costs are expected to be in the range of $0.90 to $0.95 per pound
of copper for 2007 before considering the impact of the accounting change for the removal of deferred stripping.

As of December 31, 2006, due to the continued lack of smelter capacity on the Zambian Copperbelt, the Company had
stockpiled approximately 9,000 tonnes of contained copper in concentrates. In addition, approximately 6,000 tonnes of
contained copper has been stockpiled at Guelb Moghrein. These stockpiles are expected to be fully processed in 2007.

TC and RC terms for the majority of concentrate treatment are based on annual Japanese Smelter Pool benchmarks and for
2007 have been settled at $60 per tonne of concentrate (TC), and 6.0 cents per pound of copper (RC) with no price
participation.

Kansanshi
During the first two months of 2007, Kansanshi produced approximately 24,000 tonnes of copper, which included 15,500
tonnes of copper cathode and 8,500 tonnes of copper in concentrate.  In 2007, the Mufulira smelter will process the majority
of Kansanshi’s concentrate. Kansanshi cash costs for 2007 are forecast in the range of $0.90 to $0.95 per pound of copper
before considering the impact of the accounting change for the removal of deferred stripping.

Construction of a second sulphide crushing and milling circuit expansion is currently underway. Design work is well
progressed and the majority of major equipment and long lead items have been purchased. Site works will begin in the dry
season (April). The expansion will increase sulphide throughput to 12 million tonnes per year beginning in 2008 and assist
in treating the harder ore expected over the next few years. The expansion will result in increases in copper production from
2008 onwards.  The total capital cost for the throughput expansion is expected to be approximately $60 million, excluding
mining equipment.

During the 2006 year, orders were placed for more mining equipment. It was discovered that more ore blending for both the
oxide and sulphide ores were needed to accommodate variations in grade, hardness and acid consumption. The intention
of the additional mining equipment was to improve the flexibility in the pit by enabling additional ore exposure. Some of this
equipment arrived in mid 2006, which has already increased the exposure of additional high grade ore and has offset the
continuing impact of lower grade sulphide ore on copper production in January and February of 2007.  

At Kansanshi, the Company is investing in a high pressure leach (“HPL”) facility to treat a portion of the increased copper
concentrate production. The main components of the HPL facility are two autoclaves, an oxygen plant and an additional
35,000 tonne per annum solvent extraction and electrowinning (“SX/EW”) facility. The total HPL capital cost is budgeted at
$100 million including an upgrade to the Zesco power supply to Kansanshi and working capital requirements. The new
SX/EW facility has been commissioned and is currently in use. This enabled the mine to exploit higher grade oxides in
January and February of 2007. Construction of all remaining areas was completed in 2006, and commissioning of the
autoclaves commenced in November.

The commissioning of the autoclaves required a very thorough and diligent approach to testing and proving all systems
associated with the circuit. Part of the commissioning process includes the need to have a controlled curing of the new
brickwork in the autoclave by raising the temperature and pressure in a stepped manner with hold periods of time, followed
by an equally careful cooling period, internal visual inspection, and an autoclave pressure test. These activities required
approximately 3 weeks, and were successfully completed in January. During process testing of the high pressure circuits and
the slurry circuits, some of the high pressure valves on the autoclave exhibited an unsatisfactory amount of pressure
leakage. New valves and spares, which had been ordered, have not yet been received as of the date of this report.
Consequently, the existing valves have been dispatched for refurbishment by a specialist workshop. Upon receipt of the
refurbished valves, process commissioning will continue with the introduction of slurry to the autoclave.

Bwana/Lonshi
During the first two months of 2007, Bwana/Lonshi exhausted its exposed ore, which has impacted the early part of 2007.
Hence, during the first two months of 2007, Bwana/Lonshi has produced approximately 3,500 tonnes of copper cathode,
well below its average past production. This diminished production results from the need to advance the waste stripping at
a time of high rainfall. However, annual production estimates remain unchanged. Cash costs for 2007 are forecast in the
range of $0.75 to $0.80 per pound of copper before considering the impact of the accounting change for the removal of
deferred stripping. The Company continues to assess the alternative and most beneficial uses for the Bwana processing
plant after the Lonshi ore has been exhausted in 2008. The Company has and will continue to process external ore
purchased from third parties, to exploit the full production capacity at Bwana.
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Guelb Moghrein
At Guelb Moghrein, the first copper in concentrate was produced in July 2006. Management determined that commercial
production (i.e. 65% of design capacity) was achieved on October 5, 2006. During the first two months of 2007 Guelb
Moghrein produced 4,200 tonnes of copper in concentrate and 9,200 ounces of gold. The process plant is currently
producing at a monthly rate of approximately 2,100 tonnes of copper in concentrate per month versus a design output of
2,500 tonnes of copper in concentrate per month. Gold production is approximately 4,600 ounces per month which is
approximately 82% of design output. Gold production will increase both with increased copper concentrate volumes and
with higher recovery after the final commissioning of the carbon-in-leach (CIL) gold plant is completed. The Company
expects to provide unit cost guidance for 2007 in the publication of the first quarter financial results. The Company remains
unable to release detailed information on Guelb Moghrein as the historical resource statement is not compliant with
National Instrument 43-101; however, the Company is currently awaiting assays from a drilling program, to comply with this
instrument.

Frontier
At Frontier, construction is underway in both Zambia and the DRC.  Progress at the Frontier site continues with the plant
construction on schedule for a July start of commissioning. Excessive rainfall during the wet season has delayed the
completion of the Run of Mine (ROM) pad and the 220/33kv substation base. The rains have also put the pre-strip mining
behind schedule.  The Company continues to forecast a third quarter 2007 start of commissioning at Frontier.

Kolwezi and Other
At the Kolwezi copper-cobalt project in the DRC, the Company has conducted metallurgical test work and piloting program
for revised process engineering. The Company is considering the construction of an initial 35,000 tonne per year copper
facility and 5,800 tonne per year cobalt facility which would be designed to be expanded to 105,000 tonnes of copper per
year and 17,400 tonnes of cobalt per year. A detailed capital estimate is currently being prepared for presentation to the
project stakeholders.

A large exploration program was carried out between May and October of 2006 with several drilling programs targeting
prospects identified in 2005 including Kashime and Kibamba. Results of this program will be published when they are
received.  

The Company has adopted the strategy of making investments in public companies. The positions may be increased or
decreased at any time.  At December 31, 2006, the Company had invested $35.6 million in this program.

10. Non-GAAP Measures, Future Changes in Accounting Policies, 
Critical Accounting Policies and Other 

Non-GAAP Measures

Calculation of Cash and Total Costs
The consolidated cash (C1) and total (C3) costs presented for the Company are a non-GAAP measure that is prepared on a
basis consistent with the industry standard Brook Hunt definitions. In calculating the cash and total costs for each segment,
the costs are prepared on the same basis as the segmented financial information that is contained in the financial
statements.  

For the purposes of calculating the cash costs at Kansanshi, TC RCs that are normally deducted from concentrate revenues
are added to the cash costs to show the cash costs of producing finished copper. The revenues presented in the income
statement for concentrates are shown net of these deductions and therefore the cost of sales in the financial statements
does not include treatment and refining charges.

Cash costs, therefore, include all mining and processing costs less any profits from by-products such as gold or acid that
is allocated to that segment. In addition, treatment and refining revenue deductions on concentrates are added to cash costs
to arrive at an approximate cost of finished copper. Total costs are cash costs plus depreciation, interest and realized foreign
exchange costs.

The cash and total costs per pound presented in this MD&A have only been calculated post commercial production,
therefore, any costs and production prior to commercial production have not been considered in determining the cash and
total costs of the consolidated group or segments except for capitalized costs, which are depreciated and included in total
cost per pound.

Calculation of Operating Cash Flow per Share
The calculations of operating cash flow per share, before and after working capital movements, are a non-GAAP measure
that is prepared for analysts’ use to measure the Company’s cash flows from operations on a per share basis.
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In calculating the operating cash flow per share, before and after working capital movements, the operating cash flow
calculated for GAAP purposes is divided by the weighted average common shares outstanding for the respective period.

Future Changes in Accounting Policies

Deferred Stripping 
The CICA Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC”) has issued EIC – 160 Stripping Costs Incurred in the Production Phase of a
Mining Operation.  EIC – 160 requires stripping costs to be accounted for as variable production costs to be included in the
costs of inventory produced, unless the stripping activity can be shown to be a betterment of the mineral property, in which
case the stripping costs would be capitalized.  Betterment occurs when stripping activity increases future output of the mine
by providing access to additional sources of reserves. 

The Company will adopt the provisions of this EIC on a retroactive basis, effective January 1, 2007. As a result of this
adoption, the Company will retroactively restate the financial statements for first quarter of 2007 as follows:

As stated at Restated
December 31, 2006 December 31, 2006

$ $
Inventory 147,374 169,158
Other assets (includes deferred stripping) 66,287 21,679
Future income tax liability (173,319) (167,572)
Minority interest (88,646) (85,407)
Retained earnings (539,084) (525,246)

Financial Instruments
In April 2005, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board issued new accounting standards dealing with the recognition,
measurement and disclosure of financial instruments, hedges and comprehensive income, together with many
consequential changes throughout the CICA Handbook. These new standards will affect the Company’s interim and annual
financial statements beginning in the first quarter of 2007. These new standards are as follows:

Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement, Section 3855
This standard prescribes when a financial asset, financial liability, or non-financial derivative is to be recognized on the
balance sheet and whether fair value or cost-based methods are used to measure the amounts. It also specifies how
financial instrument gains and losses are to be presented.  

The Company has designated its marketable security investments as available for sale, which at 31 December 2006 would
have resulted in a reduction of investments of $2.9 million and a decrease in comprehensive income of $2.9 million.

The Company currently accounts for derivatives on a mark to market basis (except embedded derivatives), therefore, there
will be no change upon the adoption of this new standard. However, the Company is currently assessing the impact of any
embedded derivatives to the Company.

Hedges, Section 3865
This standard is applicable when a company chooses to designate a hedging relationship for accounting purposes. The
adoption of this standard is not expected to impact the Company.

Comprehensive Income, Section 1530
This standard requires the presentation of a statement of comprehensive income and its components. Comprehensive
income includes both net earnings and other comprehensive income. Other comprehensive income for the Company will
include holding gains and losses on investments designated as available for sale.  

Critical Accounting Policies

Mineral properties and deferred exploration costs
The Company expenses exploration and associated costs relating to non-specific projects/properties in the period they are
incurred. For specific properties or projects any acquisition, exploration, or development costs are deferred until the project
to which they relate is sold, abandoned, impaired or placed into production. Property acquisition and mine development
costs, including costs incurred during production to expand ore reserves within existing mine operations, are deferred and
depleted on a units-of-production basis over their reserves.

Management’s estimates of mineral prices, recoverable reserves, and operating, capital and reclamation costs are subject
to certain risks and uncertainties which may affect the recoverability of mineral property costs. Although management has
made its best estimate of these factors, it is possible that changes could occur in the near term that could adversely affect
management’s estimate of the net cash flow to be generated from its projects.
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The Company performs impairment tests on property, plant and equipment and mineral properties when events or
circumstances occur which indicate the assets may not be recoverable. Where information is available and conditions
suggest impairment, estimated future net cash flows for each project are calculated using estimated future prices, mineral
resources, and operating, capital and reclamation costs on an undiscounted basis. When these estimated future cash flows
are less than the carrying value, the project is considered impaired. Reductions in the carrying value of each project would
be recorded to the extent the net book value of the investment exceeds the discounted estimated future cash flows. Where
estimates of future net cash flows are not available and where other conditions suggest impairment, management assesses
whether the carrying value can be recovered.

Pre-production costs
Determination of the start of commercial production is an important consideration as during the development phase costs
will continue to be capitalized/deferred while during the production phase these costs would be treated as operating
expenses. As noted in the Company’s financial statements, the Company defers all production costs and revenues until such
a time that the project achieves commercial production.

The exercise of assessing when commercial production levels are achieved is not straight-forward and requires
consideration of many factors including, but not limited to, when: a nominated percentage of design capacity for the mine
and mill has been achieved; mineral recoveries reaching or exceeding expected levels; and the achievement of continuous
production. The Company, when evaluating whether or not commercial production has been achieved, will generally
consider that commercial production has been achieved when between 65% and 70% of design capacity has been achieved
continuously for a period of at least a week and recoveries are approaching expected levels. Notwithstanding, each project
is also viewed in isolation and specific circumstances may exist that alter the above general framework on any individual
project.

Income taxes
The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for future income taxes. Under this method, future income
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the tax and accounting bases of assets and
liabilities as well as for the benefit of losses available to be carried forward to future years. The amount of future tax assets
recognized is limited to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

The determination of the Company’s tax expense for the year and its future tax liabilities and assets involves significant
management estimation and judgement involving a number of assumptions. In determining these amounts management
interprets tax legislation in a variety of jurisdictions and makes estimates of the expected timing of the reversal of future
tax assets and liabilities. Management also makes estimates of the future earnings which affect the extent to which
potential future tax benefits may be used. The Company is subject to assessment by various taxation authorities which may
interpret tax legislation in a manner different from the Company.  These differences may affect the final amount or the
timing of the payment of taxes. When such differences arise the Company makes provision for such items based on
management’s best estimate of the final outcome of these matters.

Stock Based Compensation
The Company grants stock options under its stock option plan and PSUs and RSUs under its new long-term incentive plan
to its directors and employees. The Company expenses the fair value of stock options, PSUs and RSUs granted over the
vesting period. 

The fair value of stock options is determined using an option pricing model that takes into account, as of the grant date, the
exercise price, the expected life of the option, the current price of the underlying stock and its expected volatility, expected
dividends on the stock, and the risk-free interest rate over the expected life of the option. Cash consideration received
from employees when they exercise the options is credited to capital stock. 

The fair value of PSUs is determined using a valuation model that takes into account, as of the grant date, the expected life
of the PSU, expected volatility, expected dividend yield, and the risk free interest rate over the life of the PSU, to generate
potential outcomes for stock prices, which are used to estimate the probability of the PSUs vesting at the end of the
performance measurement period. 

The fair value of RSUs is determined by reference to the share price of the Company at the date of grant. 

Asset retirement obligations 
The Company records asset retirement obligations at fair value in the period in which the liability is incurred. Fair value is
determined based on the estimated future cash flows required to settle the liability discounted at the Company’s credit
adjusted risk free interest rate. The liability is adjusted for changes in the expected amounts and timing of cash flows
required to discharge the liability and accreted over time to its full value. The associated asset retirement costs are
capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset and amortized over the expected useful life of the asset.
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Critical Accounting Estimates
In preparing the financial statements, management has to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Specifically, estimates and assumptions are made in regards to
reserve and resource estimation; future copper, cobalt, sulphuric acid and gold prices; foreign currency exchange rates;
stock prices; estimated costs of future production; changes in government legislation and regulations; estimated future
income tax amounts; and the availability of financing and various operational factors.

Based on historical experience, current conditions and expert advice, management makes assumptions that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates and assumptions form the basis for judgments about the
carrying value of assets and liabilities and reported amounts for revenues and expenses. Different assumptions would
result in different estimates and actual results may differ from results based on these estimates. These estimates and
assumptions are also affected by management’s application of accounting policies. Critical accounting estimates are those
that affect the consolidated financial statements materially and involve a significant level of judgment by management.  The
following section outlines those critical accounting policies that have changed since the filing of the Company’s 2005
Audited Financial Statements or that are particularly relevant to the current year.

As is common in the mining industry, a number of the Company’s sales agreements require final prices to be determined in
a future period.  For this purpose, it is necessary for management to estimate the final price received based on current
prices for both copper and gold.  As a result of the significant volatility in current metal prices, actual results may materially
differ from those initially recorded when final prices are determined.  Management follows the industry practice of re-
pricing any provisional priced sales at the end of each reporting period and any differences / adjustments are recorded in
the current period’s earnings.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant
information is communicated to senior management, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as defined under the rules of the
Canadian Securities Administration, was conducted as of December 31, 2006 under the supervision of the Company’s
Disclosure Committee and with the participation of management. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
Internal controls over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the
Company’s financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in compliance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles.

An evaluation of the design effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting was conducted as of
December 31, 2006 by the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based
on this evaluation, management has concluded that the design of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting
was effective.

There were no changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting during the year ended December 31,
2006 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal controls over financial reporting.

Forward Looking Statements
Certain information contained in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis constitutes “forward-looking statements”
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and forward-looking information under applicable
Canadian securities legislation. Such forward-looking statements or information, including but not limited to those with
respect to the prices of gold, copper, cobalt and sulphuric acid, estimated future production, estimated costs of future
production, the Company’s hedging policy and permitting time lines, involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and
other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different
from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements or
information.  Such factors include, among others, the actual prices of copper, gold, cobalt and sulphuric acid, the factual
results of current exploration, development and mining activities, changes in project parameters as plans continue to be
evaluated, as well as those factors disclosed in the Company’s documents filed from time to time with the Alberta, British
Columbia, and Ontario Securities Commissions, the Autorité des marchés financiers in Quebec, the United States Securities
and Exchange Commission and the Alternative Investment Market operated by the London Stock Exchange.
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11. Summary of Quarterly Results
The following table sets out a summary of the quarterly results for the Company for the last eight quarters:

Table 10:  Summary of Quarterly Results (unaudited)
2005 2005 2005 2005 2006 2006 2006 2006

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Statement of Operations and Retained Earnings
(millions, except where indicated)
Total revenues $38.2 $86.5 $143.0 $176.9 $187.2 $362.5 $328.4 $216.4
Cost of sales 16.2 35.0 53.8 46.9 54.5 63.5 72.5 74.1
Net earnings 27.2 29.0 39.5 57.1 54.8 150.5 139.1 70.0
Basic earnings per share $0.44 $0.47 $0.64 $0.93 $0.89 $2.33 $2.09 $1.04
Diluted earnings per share $0.43 $0.46 $0.63 $0.90 $0.86 $2.28 $2.05 $1.02
Gross copper selling price (per lb) $1.47 $1.53 $1.77 $2.09 $2.53 $3.71 $3.48 $2.54
Realized copper price (per lb) $1.44 $1.42 $1.58 $1.97 $2.26 $3.36 $3.17 $2.32
Average LME cash copper price (per lb) $1.44 $1.54 $1.71 $1.95 $2.24 $3.29 $3.48 $3.21
Realized gold price (per oz) - $427 $482 $467 $563 $631 $581 $628
Average gold price (per oz) $427 $427 $440 $485 $554 $627 $622 $614

Total copper sold (tonnes)(2) 12,000 26,535 39,864 40,203 36,635 48,171 46,227 41,454
Total copper produced (tonnes) (3) 12,028 28,673 36,196 42,220 42,086 49,180 45,480 46,531
Total gold sold (ounces) - 1,370 7,130 5,766 8,079 9,611 8,863 6,944

Cash Costs (C1) (per lb) (1) $0.58 $0.60 $0.64 $0.71 $0.81 $0.87 $0.90 $1.00
Total Costs (C3) (per lb) (1) $0.75 $0.80 $0.87 $0.89 $1.01 $1.07 $1.13 $1.24

Financial Position (millions)
Working capital $61.4 $47.1 $32.2 $76.2 $102.0 $234.6 $290.9 $292.9
Total assets $523.1 $561.9 $641.5 $746.5 $842.4 $1,401.2 $1,584.5 $1,744.4
Weighted average # shares (000’s) 61,267 61,499 61,583 61,639 61,808 64,564 66,615 67,287

Cash Flows from (millions)
Operating activities

Before working capital movements $19.7 $43.0 $81.1 $101.0 $105.7 $215.2 $185.5 $85.0
After working capital movements 22.9 2.3 69.8 115.5 84.6 150.6 133.5 146.4

Financing activities 24.8 (22.8) (5.1) (1.6) (17.7) 27.1 (41.7) 50.9
Investing activities (19.0) (2.3) (57.8) (94.4) (42.4) (94.6) (92.4) (137.5)
Cash Flows from Operating activities per share(3)

Before working capital movements 0.32 0.70 1.32 1.64 1.71 3.33 2.78 1.26
After working capital movements 0.37 0.04 1.13 1.87 1.37 2.33 2.00 2.18
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Table 10:  Summary of Quarterly Results (unaudited) (continued)
2005 2005 2005 2005 2006 2006 2006 2006

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Kansanshi Production Statistics
Mining:

Waste mined (000’s tonnes) 1,651 3,185 6,064 5,240 2,588 5,516 6,683 7,123
Ore mined (000’s tonnes) 2,119 2,050 1,621 1,499 1,382 2,552 3,220 2,380
Ore grade (%) 1.7 2.0 2.0 1.9 1.7 1.4 1.4 1.4

Processing:
Sulphide Ore processed (000’s tonnes) (3) – 434 507 580 782 1,140 1,277 1,212
Oxide Ore processed (000’s tonnes) (3) – 696 955 1,039 1,044 1,246 1,401 1,080
Contained copper (tonnes) (3) – 19,917 27,510 30,934 32,213 36,981 32,882 31,545
Sulphide ore grade processed (%) – 2.0 2.0 2.0 1.9 1.6 1.2 0.9
Oxide ore grade processed (%) – 1.8 1.8 1.9 1.7 1.5 1.2 1.6
Recovery (3) (%) – 86 84 96 92 94 95 92
Copper cathode produced (tonnes) (3) – 8,802 14,395 18,324 15,796 18,687 20,194 19,006
Copper in concentrate produced (tonnes) (3) – 8,154 8,670 11,234 14,572 16,924 11,985 10,015
Concentrate grade (%) – 28.9 29.5 28.7 29.3 25.8 26.4 26.9
Combined Costs (per lb) (1)

Mining – $0.09 $0.08 $0.06 $0.10 $0.12 $0.17 $0.14
Processing – $0.33 $0.36 $0.38 $0.41 $0.44 $0.50 $0.62
Site Administration – $0.04 $0.04 $0.04 $0.03 $0.04 $0.04 $0.04
TC RCs – $0.18 $0.18 $0.21 $0.31 $0.42 $0.31 $0.27
Gold / Acid credit – $(0.01) $(0.07) $(0.04) $(0.07) $(0.08) $(0.07) $(0.05)

Combined Total Cash Costs – $0.63 $0.59 $0.65 $0.78 $0.94 $0.95 $1.02
Combined Total Costs – $0.80 $0.80 $0.76 $0.93 $1.11 $1.17 $1.21
Cathode Costs (per lb) (1)

Mining – $0.11 $0.08 $0.06 $0.10 $0.13 $0.16 $0.12
Processing – $0.46 $0.40 $0.42 $0.51 $0.51 $0.51 $0.68
Site Administration – $0.04 $0.04 $0.04 $0.03 $0.04 $0.04 $0.04
TC RCs – – – – – $0.03 $0.10 $0.08
Gold / Acid credit – – – – $(0.01) $(0.02) $(0.02)

Cathode Total Cash Costs – $0.61 $0.52 $0.52 $0.64 $0.70 $0.79 $0.90
Cathode Total Costs – $0.80 $0.73 $0.63 $0.80 $0.87 $1.00 $1.08
Concentrate Costs (per lb) (1)

Mining – $0.07 $0.08 $0.06 $0.09 $0.12 $0.18 $0.18
Processing – $0.19 $0.29 $0.30 $0.28 $0.35 $0.46 $0.51
Site Administration – $0.04 $0.05 $0.05 $0.04 $0.04 $0.04 $0.04
TC RCs – $0.38 $0.48 $0.57 $0.68 $0.89 $0.73 $0.63
Gold / Acid credit – $(0.03) $(0.19) $(0.11) $(0.16) $(0.17) $(0.16) $(0.11)

Concentrate Total Cash Costs – $0.65 $0.71 $0.87 $0.93 $1.23 $1.25 $1.25
Concentrate Total Costs – $0.81 $0.90 $0.98 $1.08 $1.40 $1.49 $1.47

Revenue ($000’s)
Copper cathodes – 29,165 54,116 87,624 84,745 142,301 158,563 110,953
Copper in concentrates – 15,309 34,668 31,850 35,611 109,517 65,331 20,141
Gold – 585 3,438 2,692 4,545 6,068 5,152 2,761
Total revenues – 45,059 92,222 122,166 124,901 257,886 229,046 133,855

Copper cathode sold (tonnes) – 8,919 14,227 18,505 15,556 18,754 20,217 19,165
Copper in concentrate sold (tonnes) – 6,024 12,243 9,260 9,282 15,692 13,131 8,215
Gold sold (ounces) – 1,370 7,130 5,766 8,079 9,611 8,864 4,427



FIRST QUANTUM MINERALS LTD.  2006 ANNUAL REPORT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

56

Table 10:  Summary of Quarterly Results (unaudited) (continued)
2005 2005 2005 2005 2006 2006 2006 2006

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Bwana/Lonshi Production Statistics
Mining:

Waste mined (000’s tonnes) 2,596 4,025 4,707 5,918 3,241 5,607 5,915 4,081
Ore mined (000’s tonnes) 152 319 300 209 147 183 110 80
Ore grade (%) 5.3 5.5 3.9 6.1 8.4 10.7 11.9 10.4

Processing:
Oxide Ore processed (000’s tonnes) 264 328 363 397 335 314 322 294
Contained copper (tonnes) 13,804 13,354 15,003 14,262 13,401 15,625 15,011 13,037
Oxide ore grade processed (%) 5.2 4.1 4.1 3.6 4.0 5.0 4.7 4.3
Recovery (%) 87 88 88 89 87 87 89 96
Copper cathode produced (tonnes) 12,028 11,717 13,131 12,662 11,718 13,569 13,302 12,479
Acid produced (tonnes) 55,275 69,218 64,263 72,040 68,195 71,421 63,830 73,901
Surplus acid (tonnes) 49 14,939 7,120 219 937 910 508 8
Cathode Costs (per lb) (1)

Mining $0.23 $0.29 $0.43 $0.49 $0.51 $0.32 $0.32 $0.34
Processing $0.31 $0.31 $0.30 $0.34 $0.38 $0.35 $0.38 $0.43
Site Administration $0.06 $0.06 $0.06 $0.09 $0.10 $0.10 $0.10 $0.07
TC RCs – – – – – – – –
Gold / Acid credit $(0.02) $(0.09) $(0.05) $(0.08) $(0.09) $(0.08) $(0.06) $(0.09)

Cathode Total Cash Costs $0.58 $0.57 $0.74 $0.84 $0.90 $0.69 $0.74 $0.75
Cathode Total Costs $0.75 $0.79 $1.01 $1.16 $1.20 $0.98 $1.00 $1.00

Revenues ($000’s)
Copper cathodes 38,172 38,899 49,602 54,694 62,085 104,455 99,283 75,820

Copper cathodes sold (tonnes) 12,000 11,592 13,394 12,438 11,797 13,648 12,954 12,766

Guelb Production Statistics
Mining:

Waste mined (000’s tonnes) – – – – 1,156 1,721 1,660 1,719
Ore mined (000’s tonnes) – – – – 41 144 179 400
Ore grade (%) – – – – 1.9 1.9 1.8 1.5

Processing:
Sulphide Ore processed (000’s tonnes) (3) – – – – – – – 334

Contained copper (tonnes) (3) – – – – – – – 6,552
Sulphide ore grade processed (%) – – – – – – – 2.0
Recovery (3) (%) – – – – – – – 78
Copper concentrate produced (tonnes) (3) – – – – – – – 5,031

Concentrate Costs (per lb) (1)

Mining – – – – – – – $0.13
Processing – – – – – – – $0.77
Site Administration – – – – – – – $0.08
TC RCs – – – – – – – $0.86
Gold / Acid credit – – – – – – – $(0.15)

Concentrate Total Cash Costs – – – – – – – $1.69
Concentrate Total Costs – – – – – – – $2.18

Revenues ($000’s)
Copper in concentrates – – – – – – – 5,551
Gold – – – – – – – 1,601
Total revenues – – – – – – – 7,152
Copper concentrates sold (tonnes) – – – – – – – 1,308
Gold sold (ounces) – – – – – – – 2,516

(1) For the definition of cash and total costs, reference should be made to Section 10.  

(2)  Copper sold does not include tonnes sold prior to pre-commercial production.   

(3) Copper produced does not include tonnes produced prior to pre-commercial production.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The consolidated financial statements of First Quantum Minerals Ltd. and the information contained in the annual report
have been prepared by and are the responsibility of the Company’s management. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in Canada and, where appropriate,
reflect management’s best estimates and judgements based on currently available information.

Management has developed and is maintaining a system of internal controls to obtain reasonable assurance that the
Company’s assets are safeguarded, transactions are authorized and financial information is reliable.

The Company’s independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, who are appointed by the shareholders, conduct an
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Their report outlines the scope of their audit and
gives their opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets periodically with management and the independent auditors to review
the scope and results of the annual audit, and to review the consolidated financial statements and related financial reporting
matters prior to approval of the consolidated financial statements.

Philip K.R. Pascall David E. J. Moroney
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

February 24, 2007

Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders of First Quantum Minerals Ltd.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of First Quantum Minerals Ltd. as at December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the
consolidated statements of earnings and retained earnings and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles

Chartered Accountants

Vancouver, B.C.

February 24, 2007
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at December 31, 2006 and 2005 

(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, except where indicated)
2006 2005

$ $

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (note 17) 249,544 82,910
Restricted cash (note 8) 15,000 20,162
Accounts receivable 142,821 62,938
Inventory (note 4) 147,374 60,854
Current portion of other assets (note 7) 10,108 7,506

564,847 234,370
Investments (note 5) 45,171 9,522
Property, plant and equipment (note 6) 1,068,118 471,294
Other assets (note 7) 66,287 31,325

1,744,423 746,511

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 84,802 63,492
Current taxes payable 110,039 16,055
Current portion of long-term debt (note 8) 57,713 58,255
Current portion of other liabilities (note 9) 19,389 20,377

271,943 158,179
Long-term debt (note 8) 237,203 176,767
Other liabilities (note 9) 38,211 34,340
Future income tax liabilities (note 11) 173,319 43,330

720,676 412,616
Minority interests 88,646 22,454

809,322 435,070

Shareholders’ equity
Equity accounts (note 12) 396,017 166,592
Retained earnings 539,084 144,849

935,101 311,441

1,744,423 746,511

Commitments (note 18)

Approved by the Board of Directors

Director Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Retained Earnings

For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 

(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, except where indicated)
2006 2005

$ $

Sales revenues
Copper 1,073,943 434,100
Gold 20,128 6,715
Acid 412 3,799

1,094,483 444,614
Cost of sales (264,600) (151,904)
Depletion and amortization (56,067) (36,545)

Operating profit 773,816 256,165
Other expenses/income

Exploration (18,889) (7,493)
General and administrative (19,182) (9,724)
Interest and financing fees on long-term debt (32,729) (19,385)
Other expenses/income (note 14) (57,416) (16,996)
Gain on disposal of investment 1,805 16,127

(126,411) (37,471)

Earnings before income taxes and minority interests 647,405 218,694
Income taxes (note 11) (166,845) (45,612)
Minority interests (66,174) (20,264)

Net earnings for the year 414,386 152,818
Retained earnings (deficit) – beginning of year 144,849 (3,936)
Dividends (20,151) (4,033)

Retained earnings  – end of year 539,084 144,849

Earnings per common share
Basic $6.37 $2.48
Diluted $6.24 $2.43

Weighted average shares outstanding (000’s) 65,088 61,498

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 

(expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, except where indicated)
2006 2005

$ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Net earnings for the year 414,386 152,818

Items not affecting cash
Depletion and amortization 56,067 36,545
Minority interests 66,174 20,264
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) 4,567 (7,744)
Future income tax expense 22,381 26,632
Stock-based compensation expense 6,660 2,656
Unrealized derivative instruments loss 5,577 14,890
Amortization of deferred finance fees 12,381 2,290
Other 1,797 3,903
Gain on disposal of investment (1,805) (16,127)

588,185 236,127
Change in non-cash operating working capital

Increase in accounts receivable (81,791) (44,518)
Increase in inventory (85,339) (25,218)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12,535 22,645
Increase in current taxes payable 93,984 12,806

Long term incentive plan contribution (note 12) (15,563) -

512,011 201,842

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from long-term debt 307,000 68,023
Repayments of long-term debt (251,507) (39,819)
Proceeds on issuance of common shares 3,461 2,159
Dividends paid (20,151) (4,033)
Deferred premium obligation, finance fees (25,443) (12,763)

13,360 13,567

Cash flows from investing activities
Restricted cash 5,162 (18,231)
Acquisition of Adastra Minerals Inc., net of cash acquired (note 3) (27,829) –
Property, plant and equipment (264,256) (180,195)
Deferred exploration and stripping costs (37,806) (6,545)
Net investments (33,843) 21,944

(358,572) (183,027)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (165) 172
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 166,634 32,554
Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year 82,910 50,356

Cash and cash equivalents – end of year 249,544 82,910

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 

(tabular amounts expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, except where indicated)

1. Nature of Operations
First Quantum Minerals Ltd. (“FQM” or the “Company”) is engaged in the production of copper, gold and acid and related
activities including exploration, development and processing. These activities are conducted principally in Zambia, the
Democratic Republic of Congo (“DRC”), and Mauritania.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of presentation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
(“Canadian GAAP”). 

Principles of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The principal
operating subsidiaries are First Quantum Mining and Operations Limited (“FQMO”), Compagnie Minera De Sakania SPRL
(“Comisa”), Kansanshi Mining Plc (“Kansanshi”), Mauritanian Copper Mines SARL (“Guelb Moghrein”), Frontier SPRL
(“Frontier”), and Adastra Minerals Inc. (“Adastra”).

The Company also consolidates entities that are subject to control on a basis other than ownership of a majority of the
voting interests, or variable interest entities. The Company established an independent trust to purchase the common
shares necessary to satisfy the Company’s long term incentive plan. The Company consolidates the trust as it constitutes
a variable interest entity. 

Estimates, risks and uncertainties
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Measurement of the Company’s assets and liabilities is subject to risks and uncertainties, including ones related to reserve
and resource estimation; future copper, cobalt, sulphuric acid and gold prices; estimated costs of future production; future
costs of asset retirement obligations; changes in government legislation and regulations; estimated future income tax
amounts; the availability of financing and various operational factors.

Foreign currency translation
The functional currency of all of the Company’s operations is the U.S. dollar. The Company’s foreign currency transactions
are translated into U.S. dollars at the rate of exchange in effect during the period. Monetary assets and liabilities are
translated using period end exchange rates with any gains and losses included in the determination of operating results.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated using historical rates. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand and other short-term investments with initial maturities of
less than three months. It excludes cash subject to restrictions under long term debt facilities (note 8). 

Inventory
Product inventories comprise ore in stockpiles, acid and metal work-in-progress and acid and finished cathode and metal
in concentrate, which are recorded at the lower of average cost and net realizable value. Cost includes materials, labour and
amortization of plant, equipment and mineral properties directly involved in the mining and production processes. 

Consumable stores are valued at the lower of purchase cost and replacement cost and recorded as a current asset.

Investments
The Company’s investment in Carlisa Investment Corp. (“Carlisa”), a privately held entity, is accounted for under the cost
method.

Marketable securities are carried at cost less reductions for other than temporary decreases in value. 
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Mineral properties and mine development costs
General exploration and associated costs are expensed in the period incurred. Significant property acquisition, exploration
and development costs relating to specific properties are deferred until the project to which they relate is sold, abandoned,
impaired or placed into production.

Property acquisition and mine development costs, including costs incurred during production to expand ore reserves within
existing mine operations, are deferred and depleted on a units-of-production basis over their reserves.

Management’s estimates of mineral prices, recoverable reserves, and operating, capital and reclamation costs are subject
to certain risks and uncertainties that may affect the recoverability of mineral property costs. Although management has
made its best estimate of these factors, it is possible that changes could occur in the near term that could adversely affect
management’s estimate of the net cash flow to be generated from its projects.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depletion and amortization. Costs recorded for plants
under construction include all expenditures incurred in connection with the development and construction of the plants.
Interest and financing costs that relate to the project and are incurred during the construction period are capitalized. No
amortization is recorded until the plants are operational. Where relevant, the Company has estimated residual values on
certain plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are amortized over the estimated lives of the assets on a units-of-production basis over
their reserves or straight-line basis as appropriate.

Pre-production costs
Production costs and revenues related to development projects are deferred until the project achieves commercial
production. These deferred costs are amortized over the expected period of benefit of these costs on a units-of-production
basis using their reserves. 

Asset impairment
The Company performs impairment tests on property, plant and equipment and mineral properties when events or
circumstances occur that indicate the assets may not be recoverable. Where information is available and conditions suggest
impairment, estimated future net cash flows for a mine or development project are calculated using estimated future prices,
mineral resources, and operating, capital and reclamation costs on an undiscounted basis. When estimated future cash
flows are less than the carrying value, the project is considered impaired. Reductions in the carrying value of a mine or
development project are recorded to the extent the net book value exceeds the discounted estimated future cash flows.
Where estimates of future net cash flows are not available and where other conditions suggest impairment, management
assesses whether the carrying value can be recovered.

Deferred financing fees
Costs incurred to obtain long-term debt are deferred and amortized over the term of the underlying debt, or capitalized
where they relate to eligible development projects. 

Deferred stripping 
Stripping costs associated with waste rock removal in excess of the life-of-mine average are deferred and charged to
inventory on the basis of the average stripping ratio for the life of the mine. When the cumulative stripping ratio is less than
the life-of-mine average, a provision for future stripping is made.

The amount charged to cost of sales is therefore subject to management’s ability to estimate the stripping ratio over the life
of the mine. Any changes in this estimate are applied prospectively and could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Asset retirement obligations 
The Company records asset retirement obligations at fair value in the period in which the liability is incurred. Fair value is
determined based on the estimated future cash flows required to settle the liability discounted at the Company’s credit
adjusted risk free interest rate. The liability is adjusted for changes in the expected amounts and timing of cash flows
required to discharge the liability and accreted over time to its full value. The associated asset retirement costs are
capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset and amortized over the expected useful life of the asset.

Revenue recognition
The Company produces copper cathode, copper in concentrate, gold and acid. Revenues from copper products are
recognized at market prices when the risks and rewards of ownership pass to the customer. Copper products are sold under
pricing arrangements where final prices may be determined by quoted market prices in periods subsequent to the date of
sale. The products are provisionally priced using forward prices for the expected date of final settlement. Subsequent
variations in price are recognized as revenue adjustments until the price is finalized. Gold revenue results from the sale of
copper concentrate and is recorded net of realization charges. Acid revenue is recorded when title has passed to the
customer. 
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Derivatives and hedging 
The Company enters into derivative instruments to mitigate exposures to copper and gold commodity prices, foreign
exchange rates, and interest rates. The Company does not apply hedge accounting. All derivative financial instruments
(apart from embedded derivatives) are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value with realized and unrealized gains and
losses recorded as other expense.  Realized gains and losses are recorded as a component of operating cashflow.

Income taxes
Current income taxes are recorded based on estimated income taxes payable for the current year. Future income tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the tax and accounting bases of assets and liabilities and
are calculated using substantively enacted tax rates for the period in which the differences are expected to reverse. The
amount of future tax assets recognized is limited to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

Stock-based compensation
The Company grants stock options under its stock option plan and performance stock units (“PSUs”) and restricted stock
units (“RSUs”) under its new long-term incentive plan to its directors and employees. The Company expenses the fair value
of stock options, PSUs and RSUs granted over the vesting period. 

The fair value of stock options is determined using an option pricing model that takes into account, as of the grant date, the
exercise price, the expected life of the option, the current price of the underlying stock and its expected volatility, expected
dividends on the stock, and the risk-free interest rate over the expected life of the option. Cash consideration received
from employees when they exercise the options is credited to capital stock. 

The fair value of PSUs is determined using a valuation model that takes into account, as of the grant date, the expected life
of the PSU, expected volatility, expected dividend yield, and the risk free interest rate over the life of the PSU, to generate
potential outcomes for stock prices, which are used to estimate the probability of the PSUs vesting at the end of the
performance measurement period. 

The fair value of RSUs is determined by reference to the share price of the Company at the date of grant. 

Earnings per share
Earnings per share are calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.  Shares
acquired under the long-term incentive plan are treated as treasury shares and are deducted from the number of shares
outstanding for the calculation of basic earnings per share. Diluted earnings per share are calculated using the treasury
stock method whereby all “in the money” options, warrants and equivalents are assumed to have been exercised at the
beginning of the period and the proceeds from the exercise are assumed to have been used to purchase common shares at
the average market price during the period.

3. Acquisition of Adastra Minerals Inc. (“Adastra”)
The Company acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Adastra in a two step transaction. Adastra is an international
mining company currently developing the Kolwezi Copper-Cobalt Tailings Project in the DRC. On May 1, 2006, the Company
acquired 75% of the outstanding shares of Adastra and therefore consolidated Adastra’s operating results from May 1,
2006. On August 11, 2006, the Company acquired the remaining 25% of the outstanding shares of Adastra.

The acquisition of Adastra has been accounted for as an asset purchase. The total purchase cost was $273.3 million
comprising:

$
Issuance of common shares (a) 234,868
Cash 34,972
Transaction costs 3,441

273,281

a) The Company issued 3.5 million common shares at CA$ 55.87 per share for the initial acquisition of Adastra and a
further 1.2 million common shares at CA$ 57.41 per share for the second step acquisition of Adastra. The
measurement of the common share component of the consideration is based on the average share price of the
Company’s common shares immediately before and after the date of acquisition. 

b) The cash paid to acquire Adastra including transaction costs less the cash received was $27.8 million.
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The allocation of the purchase price to the assets and liabilities acquired is as follows:
$

Assets
Cash 10,584
Restricted cash 2,972
Accounts receivable 709
Property, plant and equipment 387,617

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 10,114
Other liabilities 8,957
Future income tax liability 109,512
Minority interest 18

Net assets acquired 273,281

4.  Inventory
2006 2005

$ $
Ore in stockpiles 33,920 23,480
Work-in-progress 4,620 3,744
Finished product 38,124 5,130

Total product inventory 76,664 32,354
Consumable stores 70,710 28,500

Total inventory 147,374 60,854

5.  Investments
2006 2005

$ $
Carlisa Investment Corp. (a) 9,522 9,522
Marketable securities (b) 35,649 –

45,171 9,522

a) The Company has an 18.8% interest in Carlisa, a privately owned company, which holds a 90% interest in Mopani
Copper Mines Ltd (“Mopani”). Mopani operates the Nkana mine and the Mufulira mine and smelter.  As Carlisa is a
privately held entity, the fair value of this investment is not readily determinable. 

b) The marketable securities had a quoted market value of $32.7 million at December 31, 2006. 

6.  Property, Plant and Equipment
2006 2005

Accumulated Net Accumulated Net
Cost amortization $ Cost  amortization $

Plant and Equipment 520,940 133,384 387,556 383,405 84,980 298,425
Capital work-in-progress 264,219 – 264,219 140,918 – 140,918
Mineral properties and mine 

development costs 440,984 24,641 416,343 52,420 20,469 31,951

Total 1,226,143 158,025 1,068,118 576,743 105,449 471,294

During 2006, $2.2 million (2005 – $3.1 million) of interest and financing costs were capitalized. 
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7.  Other Assets
2006 2005

$ $
Prepaid power 9,901 10,380
Deferred finance fees – net of amortization 10,030 11,596
Deferred stripping asset 44,608 7,811
Fair value of derivative instruments (note 16) 2,585 932
Future income tax asset 2,482 4,385
Other 6,789 3,727

Total other assets 76,395 38,831
Less:  Current portion (10,108) (7,506)

66,287 31,325

8.  Long-term Debt
2006 2005

$ $

Drawn debt facilities
Corporate revolving credit and term loan facility (a) 225,000 –
Kansanshi subordinated debt facility (b) 44,666 40,265
Kansanshi project completion facility (c) 25,000 25,000
Kansanshi senior debt facility (d) – 117,000
Bwana long–term debt facility (e) – 25,000
Bwana capital project long-term debt facility (f ) – 13,007
Corporate debt facility (g) – 11,500
Comisa equipment financing facility  (h) – 3,000
Other 250 250

Total long-term debt 294,916 235,022
Less:  Current portion (57,713) (58,255)

237,203 176,767

The scheduled future minimum repayments are as follows:
$

2007 57,713
2008 54,963
2009 54,963
2010 54,963
2011 52,462
Thereafter 19,852

294,916

a) Corporate revolving credit and term loan facility 
In October 2006, the Company entered into a $400.0 million corporate revolving credit and term loan facility to restructure
the Company’s existing project debt, provide financing for development of the Frontier project and to provide a revolving
facility to be used for general corporate purposes.

The facility is comprised of three tranches, up to $225.0 million, $125.0 million, and $100.0 million. The total aggregate
outstanding under the facility are not to exceed $400.0 million. Tranche A is repayable in ten equal semi-annual instalments
commencing on March 31, 2008, tranche B is repayable in seven semi-annual instalments commencing on September 30,
2008, and tranche C is to have any outstanding balance reduced to $50.0 million on March 31, 2007 and any remaining
balance is to be repaid on September 30, 2011. Interest on tranches A and B is calculated at LIBOR plus 2.50%.  Interest on
tranche C is calculated at LIBOR plus 2.75%. At December 31, 2006, $175.0 million of this facility remains available to be
drawn (tranche B – $125.0 million, tranche C – $50.0 million).  

The security includes an assignment of proceeds under various sales contracts from the sale of copper, copper concentrate
and gold at Kansanshi, Bwana, Guelb Moghrein, and Frontier.  

A sinking fund has been established to meet required instalments and is recorded as restricted cash. 
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b) Kansanshi subordinated debt facility 
In December 2003, Kansanshi entered into a 34.0 million Euro subordinated debt facility agreement to finance the Kansanshi
project. This facility is repayable in nine equal annual payments commencing October 31, 2007. Interest is calculated
annually, within a range of 3.2% to 13.2%, based on the average LME cash copper price for the preceding calendar year.  The
interest rate is at its lower limit at a realized copper price of less than $1,300 per tonne and increases incrementally until
the copper price reaches its $2,200 per tonne upper limit. No recognition has been made of the fair value of this embedded
derivative. As this facility is in Euros, the Company has entered into cross-currency principal and interest rate swaps to
mitigate the effects of movements in the Euro.  Due to the copper indexed interest rate, the fair value of this instrument does
not approximate its carrying value (note 16b).

c) Kansanshi project completion facility
In March 2004, Kansanshi entered into a $25.0 million project completion facility, which was amended and restated in
2006. This facility was drawn down in 2005 and is repayable in 9 semi-annual instalments commencing December 31, 2006.
Interest is calculated at LIBOR plus 3.5%. 

d) Kansanshi senior debt facility
In 2003, Kansanshi entered into a $120.0 million secured senior debt facility to finance the Kansanshi project. The Company
repaid this facility with proceeds from the corporate revolving credit and term loan facility. 

e) Bwana long-term debt facility 
In 2004, Bwana entered into a $30.0 million long-term debt facility. The Company repaid this facility from the proceeds of
the corporate revolving credit and term loan facility.

f ) Bwana capital project long-term debt facility 
In 2003, Bwana entered into a project debt facility for $30.0 million to re-finance an existing facility and provide funding for
capital projects and working capital purposes. The Company repaid this facility with proceeds from the corporate revolving
credit and term loan facility.

g) Corporate debt facility 
In 2005, the Company entered into an $11.5 million corporate debt facility. The Company repaid this facility in September
2006.

h)  Comisa equipment financing debt facility
In 2003, Comisa entered into a $6.0 million long-term debt facility to assist with financing the mining fleet. This facility was
extended in 2004 to $10.0 million to provide additional financing for Comisa’s larger mining fleet. The Company repaid this
facility in April 2006. 

9.  Other Liabilities
2006 2005

$ $
Unrealized fair value of derivative liability (note 16) 26,632 20,417
Deferred premium obligation (note 16) 8,509 15,714
Kolwezi deferred payment (a) 7,898 -
Zesco Limited (b) 2,947 3,368
ZCCM deferred payment (c) 3,333 3,333
Guelb Moghrein deferred payment – 4,845
Deferred stripping liability – 1,009
Asset retirement obligations (note 10) 5,023 4,195
Other 3,258 1,836

Total other liabilities 57,600 54,717
Less:  Current portion (19,389) (20,377)

38,211 34,340

a) Kolwezi deferred payment
The Company holds a 65% interest in the Kolwezi project.  Under the terms of the Contract of Association with the DRC, it
was agreed by the parties involved to pay $15.0 million as consideration for the Tailings Exploration Rights (“TER”), of
which $5.0 million was paid in May 2004. The remaining $10.0 million will become due and payable upon completion of the
financing arrangements for the Kolwezi project. Of this amount, the Company expects to pay $7.9 million, which represents
the Company’s share of the TER. Financing arrangements are expected to be completed in November 2007.
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b) Zesco Limited
The Company has entered into an agreement with Zesco Limited (“Zesco”) whereby Zesco will provide the Kansanshi mine
with power for 10 years from the first day of commercial operations. The Company agreed to pay a connection fee of $10.0
million, of which $6.0 million was paid during 2004 with the balance of $4.0 million to be paid in equal bi-annual payments
beginning in 2004.  Interest is calculated on the outstanding balance at a fixed rate of 6% per annum.

c) ZCCM deferred payment
Under the terms of the Kansanshi development agreement, the Company agreed to pay $0.6 million to Zambian
Consolidated Copper Mines (“ZCCM”) on the first business day of April, July and October 2003 and January, April and July
2004 subject to the price of copper.

10.  Asset Retirement Obligations
The Company has restoration and remediation obligations associated with its operating mines and processing facilities. The
following table summarizes the movements in the asset retirement obligation for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005:

2006 2005
$ $

At January 1 4,195 4,172
Obligations incurred 578 488
Changes in cash flow estimates – (264)
Expenditures (27) (354)
Accretion expense 277 153

At December 31 5,023 4,195
Less: Current portion (452) (229)

4,571 3,966

The asset retirement obligations have been recorded initially as a liability at fair value, assuming a credit adjusted risk-free
discount rate between 7.0% and 7.62% and an inflation factor of 3%. The liability for retirement and remediation on an
undiscounted basis before an inflation factor of 3% is estimated to be approximately $8.1 million. Payments are expected
to occur over a period exceeding 18 years. 

As a result of the commencement of production at the Guelb Moghrein mine and commencement of development of the
Frontier project, an additional asset retirement obligation of $0.6 million was recognized during the year.

11.  Income Taxes
The income taxes shown in the consolidated statements of earnings differ from the amounts obtained by applying statutory
rates to the earnings before provision for income taxes due to the following:

2006 2005
Amount Amount

$ % $ %
Earnings before income taxes, minority interest 

and equity earnings 647,365 218,694
Income taxes at statutory rates 220,881 34 76,237 35
Difference in foreign tax rates (58,203) (9) (25,069) (11)
Non-deductible expenses 4,396 1 6,015 3
Tax losses recognized and other (229) – (11,571) (5)

Taxation expense 166,845 26 45,612 22

Income tax expense
Current income taxes 144,464 18,980
Future income taxes 22,381 26,632

166,845 45,612

The significant components of the Company’s future income tax liability are as follows:
2006 2005

$ $
Operating loss carry-forwards – (26,704)
Property, plant and equipment 177,550 70,690
Other (4,231) (656)

Net future income tax liability 173,319 43,330
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The significant components of the Company’s future income tax asset are as follows:
2006 2005

$ $
Operating loss carry-forwards 17,065 1,535
Other 2,482 2,850
Valuation allowance (17,065) –

2,482 4,385
Less:  Current portion – (1,725)

Net future income tax asset 2,482 2,660

The Company has nil non-capital loss carry-forwards (2005 – $111.8 million) that may be available for tax purposes. 

The currency basis of the Company’s tax losses in Zambia are currently subject to legal interpretation. The Company
maintains its tax records in U.S. dollars rather than Kwacha; formal approval for this treatment has not been received from
the Zambian Revenue Authority (ZRA). The calculation of the future income tax liability assumes that the Company can
maintain its tax losses and taxation base of its assets in U.S. dollars. A number of Zambian companies are currently in
negotiations with the ZRA to resolve this issue. Management is confident that maintaining the tax records in U.S. dollars is
the appropriate treatment and therefore has calculated the tax liability on this basis. As of the preparation of these financial
statements, this issue was still pending with the ZRA.

The Guelb Moghrein operation is subject to a five year tax holiday as agreed to by the Mauritanian government.  This
operation will become subject to Mauritanian income taxes based on income earned commencing subsequent to September
2010. 

12.  Equity Accounts 
2006 2005

$ $
Common shares (a) 399,576 160,733
Treasury shares (note 13) (15,563) –
Contributed surplus (b) 12,004 5,859

396,017 166,592

a) Common shares

Authorized

Unlimited common shares without par value

Issued
Number of

Shares Amount
(000’s) $

Balance as at December 31, 2004 61,239 158,538
Stock options exercised (note 13) 435 2,195

Balance as at December 31, 2005 61,674 160,733
Stock options exercised (note 13) 930 3,975
Acquisition of Adastra (note 2) 4,687 234,868

Balance as at December 31, 2006 67,291 399,576

Weighted average shares outstanding (000’s) 65,088

b) Contributed surplus
2006 2005

$ $
Balance – Beginning of year 5,859 3,238
Compensation expense for the year 6,660 2,979
Transfers upon exercise of stock options (515) (358)

Balance – End of year 12,004 5,859
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13.  Stock Based Compensation

a) Share stock options

The Company has a stock option plan whereby it may grant up to 6.0 million options to directors and employees.
2006 2005

Weighted Weighted
Average Average 

Number Exercise Number Exercise
of shares Price of shares Price

(000’s) CA$ (000’s) CA$
Outstanding – Beginning of year 3,104 13.41 3,158 10.44
Granted 148 44.41 682 23.52
Exercised (930) 4.20 (435) 5.13
Cancelled (343) 20.86 (301) 17.14

Outstanding – End of year 1,979 18.69 3,104 13.41

The weighted average fair value of stock options granted during 2006 was $15.02 per share (2005 – $8.18 per share).  The
Company has recorded stock based compensation expense of $4.1 million (2005 – $3.0 million) during the year.

At December 31, 2006, the following stock options were outstanding:
Number of Weighted average Weighted average

shares Price range exercise price remaining life
(000’s) CA$ CA$ (months)

1,364 $5.10 – $17.44 14.36 28
482 $20.88 – $29.25 23.63 43
133 $37.41 – $59.00 45.20 52

1,979 18.69 34

Stock options vest over a three year period.  At December 31, 2006, 215,000 stock options were vested and exercisable, all
of which are in the price range of $5.10 – $17.44 per option. 

The Company estimates the fair value of stock options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Stock option
pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected volatility. Changes in the
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, and therefore, the existing models do not necessarily provide a
reliable measure of the fair value of the Company’s stock options.

The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate compensation expense:
Risk-free interest rate 2.02% to 4.38%
Options expected life 3.5 to 4.5 years
Expected volatility 43% to 46%
Expected dividend 1%

b) Long-term incentive plan
In 2006, the Company implemented a new long-term incentive plan (the “Plan”), which provides for the issuance of PSUs
and RSUs in such amounts as are approved by the Company’s Compensation Committee.

Under the Plan, each PSU entitles participants, which includes directors, officers, and employees, to receive one common
share of the Company at the end of a three year period if certain performance and vesting criteria, which are based on the
Company’s performance relative to a representative group of other mining companies, have been met. The fair value of
each PSU is recorded as compensation expense over the vesting period. The fair value of each PSU is estimated using a
Monte Carlo Simulation approach. A Monte Carlo Simulation is a technique used to approximate the probability of certain
outcomes, called simulations, based on normally distributed random variables and highly subjective assumptions. This
model generates potential outcomes for stock prices and allows for the simulation of multiple stocks in tandem resulting
in an estimated probability of vesting. 

Under the Plan, each RSU entitles the participant to receive one common share of the Company subject to vesting criteria.
Current RSU grants will vest in equal tranches over a three year period. The fair value of each RSU is recorded as
compensation expense over the vesting period. The fair value of each RSU is equivalent to one of the Company’s common
shares at the grant date.

The Company has established an independent trust to purchase on the open market the common shares necessary to
satisfy the outstanding PSUs and RSUs.  The Company consolidates the trust as it constitutes a variable interest entity.
Consequently, shares purchased by the trust to satisfy obligations under the Plan are recorded as treasury shares in
shareholders’ equity.  Generally, dividends received on shares held in the trust will be paid to plan participants in cash as
received.
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At December 31, 2006, 109,957 PSUs and 166,064 RSUs have been granted.  The trust has purchased 276,021 shares of the
Company for allocation subject to performance and vesting criteria being satisfied.  The Company has recorded
compensation expense of $2.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2006 in respect of these units.

14.  Other Expenses/Income
2006 2005

$ $
Derivative instrument losses (58,245) (21,801)
Foreign exchange losses/gains (7,957) 2,670
Interest and sundry income 8,786 2,135

(57,416) (16,996)

15.  Segmented Information
The Company’s reportable operating segments are strategic business units that produce different but related products or
services. Each business unit is managed separately because each requires different technology and marketing strategies.

Kansanshi 
The Kansanshi operation is located in the northwest province of Zambia, approximately 15 kilometres north of Solwezi. 

Bwana/Lonshi 
The Bwana plant and the Lonshi mine are owned by separate legal entities but from a management perspective are viewed
as an integrated operation, with the Bwana plant, located in Zambia, processing the ore mined at Lonshi, which is located
in the DRC.

Guelb Moghrein 
The Guelb Moghrein operation is located near Akjoujt in Mauritania. 

Frontier 
The Frontier project is located near the town of Sakania in the DRC, within 2 kilometeres of the Zambian border.  

Corporate 
The corporate segment is responsible for the evaluation and acquisition of new mineral properties, regulatory reporting, and
corporate administration.  It includes the Kolwezi project, which is in the engineering study phase and also holds the
Connemara gold mine in Zimbabwe, which is currently on a care and maintenance basis, and other strategic investments.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, segmented information is presented as follows:

2006

Bwana/ Guelb 
Kansanshi Lonshi Moghrein Frontier Corporate Total

$ $ $ $ $ $
Segmented revenues 745,688 374,474 7,152 – 14,712 1,142,026
Less inter-segment revenues (32,831) – – (14,712) (47,543)

Revenues 745,688 341,643 7,152 – – 1,094,483
Cost of sales (161,549) (102,208) (843) – – (264,600)
Depletion and amortization (31,079) (23,440) (1,097) – (451) (56,067)

Operating profit (loss) 553,060 215,995 5,212 – (451) 773,816
Interest on long-term debt (30,663) (724) (612) – (730) (32,729)
Other (62,967) (13,339) (1,328) – (16,048) (93,682)

Segmented profit (loss) 
before undernoted items 459,430 201,932 3,272 – (17,229) 647,405

Income taxes (117,952) (52,177) – – 3,284 (166,845)
Minority interests (65,697) – (477) – – (66,174)

Segmented profit 275,781 149,755 2,795 – (13,945) 414,386

Property, plant and equipment 411,327 49,123 106,045 116,368 381,709 1,064,572
Total assets 645,483 164,835 148,223 122,780 663,102 1,744,423
Capital expenditures 110,969 2,384 44,938 106,500 381,062 645,853
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For the year ended December 31, 2005, segmented information is presented as follows:

2005

Bwana/ Guelb 
Kansanshi Lonshi Moghrein Frontier Corporate Total

$ $ $ $ $ $
Segmented revenues 259,448 198,777 – – 11,986 470,211
Less inter-segment revenues – (13,611) – – (11,986) (25,597)

Revenues 259,448 185,166 – – – 444,614
Cost of sales (67,467) (84,437) – – – (151,904)
Depletion and amortization (14,987) (21,443) – – (115) (36,545)

Operating profit (loss) 176,994 79,286 – – (115) 256,165
Interest on long-term debt (16,140) (2,865) – – (380) (19,385)
Gain on disposal of investment – – – – 16,127 16,127
Other (19,159) (6,468) – – (8,586) (34,213)

Segmented profit before 
undernoted items 141,695 69,953 – – 7,046 218,694

Income taxes (31,497) (18,842) – – 4,727 (45,612)
Minority interests (20,264) – – – – (20,264)

Segmented profit 89,934 51,111 – – 11,773 152,818

Property, plant and equipment 323,194 71,488 65,991 9,868 753 471,294
Total assets 488,342 117,064 66,600 9,868 64,637 746,511
Capital expenditures 93,099 35,073 55,719 6,177 (12) 190,056

Capital assets and revenues by geographic segment

The Company’s capital assets, including plant and equipment, capital work-in-progress, and mineral properties and mine
development costs, are located primarily in Africa. Specifically, the Company has capital assets of $442.4 million in Zambia
(2005 – $373.3 million), $516.2 in the DRC (2005 – $32.0 million), and $106.0 million in Mauritania (2005 – $66.0 million). 

The Company’s revenues by country of origin, are $1,087.3 million from Zambia (2005 – $444.6 million), and $7.2 million
from Mauritania (2005 – nil). 

16.  Financial Instruments

a) Derivative instruments

The Company enters into derivative instruments to mitigate the exposures to copper and gold commodity prices, foreign
exchange rates, and interest rates. The Company does not apply hedge accounting and all derivatives (excluding embedded
derivatives) are marked-to-market.

Changes in fair value of derivatives entered into in relation to the Kansanshi mine were capitalized as pre-commercial
production costs up to April 19, 2005.  Changes in fair value subsequent to this date have been recorded as a component
of other expenses.

As at December 31, 2006, the following derivative positions were outstanding:

2007 2008 2009 Total Fair Value

Copper (i)
Put options (tonnes) 86,016 – – 86,016 $0
Price ($/tonne) $1,800 – – –

Gold (ii)
Put options (oz) 37,380 24,060 38,028 99,468 $3
Price ($/oz) $350 $350 $350
Forward Contracts (oz) 37,380 24,060 38,028 99,468 $(26,635)
Price ($/oz) $400 $400 $400 –

Other (iii)
Interest rate swaps $169
Cross currency swaps $2,416
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i) Copper
In 2004, the Company was required to enter into copper put option contracts related to its expected copper
production at the Kansanshi mine, to satisfy lending requirements. Upon entering into these contracts, the Company
assumed a premium obligation of $21.0 million, which is due and payable between January 2005 and December
2007. As at December 31, 2006, there were put option contracts for 86,016 tonnes of copper outstanding with a
premium obligation of $8.5 million

ii) Gold
In 2004, the Company was required to enter into put option contracts related to its gold production at the Kansanshi
mine, to satisfy lending requirements. To cover the cost of these put option contracts, the Company has also entered
into contingent gold forward contracts of the same volume.  

iii) Other
The Company has entered into cross-currency principal and interest rate swaps to hedge the Euro interest and
principal payments on the Kansanshi subordinated debt facility.

b) Fair values
As at December 31, 2006, the Company’s carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and financial instruments included in other liabilities approximate their fair values
due to their short term to maturity. The majority of the Company’s long-term debt approximates fair value due to the floating
rate nature of the facilities, except for the Kansanshi subordinated debt facility, with a carrying value of $44.5 million (2005
– $40.3 million) compared to an estimated fair value at December 31, 2006 of $46.3 million (2005 – $42.1 million).
Information on long-term debt is presented in note 8; information on investments is presented in note 5.

c) Credit risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents and accounts
receivable. The Company deposits cash and cash equivalents with high credit quality financial institutions. The Company’s
future copper concentrate and cathode production has been committed to four customers on market pricing terms. 

17.  Supplementary Cash Flow Information
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 comprise the following:

2006 2005
$ $

Cash on hand and balances in bank 173,879 74,290
Short-term investments 75,665 8,620

249,544 82,910

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company paid interest of $24.0 million (2005 – $12.3 million) and taxes of
$46.7 million (2005 – $7.9 million).

18.  Commitments 
In conjunction with the development of Frontier, upgrades at Kansanshi and other projects, the Company has committed to
approximately $96.1 million in capital expenditures as at December 31, 2006.



Copper Production
(tonnes)

Revenue 
($ millions)

Operating Cash Flow
($ millions)

Earnings 
($ millions)

First Quantum Minerals Ltd. (“First Quantum” or “the Company) is focused on its

core expertise of discovering, developing and operating copper mines throughout

the world. The Company has operations in the Central African Copperbelt region

of Zambia and the Democratic Republic of Congo (“DRC”), and in Mauritania.

Cautionary Statement

Certain information contained in this annual report constitutes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and forward-looking information under applicable Canadian securities legislation. Such
forward-looking statements or information, including but not limited to those with respect to the prices of gold, copper, cobalt
and sulphuric acid, estimated future production, estimated costs of future production, the Company’s hedging policy and
permitting time lines, involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors which may cause the actual results,
performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements or information. Such factors include, among others, the actual prices
of copper, gold, cobalt and sulphuric acid, the factual results of current exploration, development and mining activities, changes
in project parameters as plans continue to be evaluated, as well as those factors disclosed in the Company’s documents filed
from time to time with the Alberta, British Columbia, and Ontario Securities Commissions, the Autorité des marchés financiers in
Quebec, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and the Alternative Investment Market operated by the London
Stock Exchange.

As of the date of this annual report, the Company has not yet completed the work necessary to verify the classification of the
mineral resource estimates at Guelb Moghrein. The Company is not therefore treating the resource as a National Instrument 43-
101 defined current mineral resource estimate verified by a qualified person under National Instrument 43-101. Consequently, at
present, information based on any existing historical resource estimate should not and cannot be relied upon.

Unless otherwise noted, all amounts in this annual report are expressed in United States dollars.
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Pure Copper
Based on a proven track record of building and
operating low cost mining, mineral processing and
metal refining operations in Africa, First Quantum 
is committed to achieving positive returns for its
shareholders while promoting the health, safety 
and development of its employees and enriching the
environment and communities in which it operates.
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